On the boundary conformal field theory approach to symmetry-resolved entanglement

Giuseppe Di Giulio^{1,2}, René Meyer^{1,2}, Christian Northe^{1,2,3*}, Henri Scheppach^{1,2} and Suting Zhao^{1,2}

 Institute for Theoretical Physics and Astrophysics, Julius Maximilian University Würzburg, Am Hubland, 97074 Würzburg, Germany
 Würzburg-Dresden Cluster of Excellence on Complexity and Topology in Quantum Matter ct.qmat
 Department of Physics, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, David Ben Gurion Boulevard 1, Be'er Sheva 84105, Israel

* christian.northe@physik.uni-wuerzburg.de

Abstract

We study the symmetry resolution of the entanglement entropy of an interval in twodimensional conformal field theories (CFTs), by relating the bipartition to the geometry of an annulus with conformal boundary conditions. In the presence of extended symmetries such as Kac-Moody type current algebrae, symmetry resolution is possible only if the boundary conditions on the annulus preserve part of the symmetry group, i.e. if the factorization map associated with the spatial bipartition is compatible with the symmetry in question. The partition function of the boundary CFT (BCFT) is then decomposed in terms of the characters of the irreducible representations of the symmetry group preserved by the boundary conditions. We demonstrate that this decomposition already provides the symmetry resolution of the entanglement spectrum of the corresponding bipartition. Considering the various terms of the partition function associated with the same representation, or charge sector, the symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies can be derived to all orders in the UV cutoff expansion without the need to compute the charged moments. We apply this idea to the theory of a free massless boson with U(1), \mathbb{R} and \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry.

Copyright G. Di Giulio *et al.* This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. Published by the SciPost Foundation. Received 31-12-2022 Accepted 14-06-2023 Published 11-07-2023 doi:10.21468/SciPostPhysCore.6.3.049

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Symmetry-Resolved Entanglement	4
3	Entanglement Entropy and BCFT 3.1 Free Boson BCFT	6 8
4	A New Take on Symmetry Resolution	11

Sci Post

	4.1	U(1) Resolution for NN and DD Boundaries Revisited	11	
		4.1.1 Cross-check: Compact Boson	14	
		4.1.2 Cross-check: Non-compact Boson	16	
	4.2	\mathbb{Z}_2 Symmetry Resolution	17	
		4.2.1 \mathbb{Z}_2 Symmetry Resolution for DD and NN	17	
		4.2.2 \mathbb{Z}_2 Symmetry Resolution for DN	19	
5	Con	clusions	20	
	5.1	Discussion	20	
	5.2	Summary of Results	21	
	5.3	Outlook	22	
Α	A Re	eview on Boundaries in the Free Boson	24	
	A.1	Free Boson Boundary States	25	
	A.2	U(1) Symmetry Breaking by ND and DN Boundaries	25	
B	Enta	inglement in Free Boson Theory	27	
С	Mod	28		
Re	References			

1 Introduction

Since the early days of quantum mechanics entanglement has been considered one of the crucial and most interesting properties of quantum systems [1]. In the last two decades, a renewed interest in this subject has led to many insights into various branches of physics, ranging from quantum gravity and holography to critical and topological many-body systems [2–6]. Quantifying the entanglement between a spatial region *A* in a given system and its complement *B* is particularly important. We assume that the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} of the entire system factorizes as $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$, where \mathcal{H}_A encodes the degrees of freedom in the region *A* and \mathcal{H}_B the ones in *B*. Given a pure state $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$, the reduced density matrix of *A* is then given by $\rho_A \equiv \text{tr}_B |\psi\rangle \langle \psi |$, where tr_B is the trace over the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_B . The Rényi entropies, defined as

$$S_n = \frac{1}{1-n} \ln \operatorname{tr} \rho_A^n, \tag{1}$$

quantify the bipartite entanglement, where *n* is integer. Upon analytic continuation to complex values of *n*, the limit $n \rightarrow 1$ of the Rényi entropies yields the entanglement entropy

$$S_1 = -\mathrm{tr}\left(\rho_A \ln \rho_A\right). \tag{2}$$

For convenience, in this text we refer to both entanglement entropy (2) and Rényi entropies (1) simply as entanglement entropies. Entanglement and its measures proved to be extremely useful in the study of critical systems, which in the continuum limit can be described by conformal field theories (CFT). In a 1+1-dimensional CFT with central charge c, when the entire system on an infinite line is in the ground state and A is an interval of length ℓ , the entanglement entropies obey the following behaviour [7–10]

$$S_1 = \frac{c}{3}\log\frac{\ell}{\epsilon}, \qquad S_n = \frac{c}{6}\frac{n+1}{n}\log\frac{\ell}{\epsilon}, \tag{3}$$

at leading order in the UV cutoff $\epsilon \ll \ell$. This result and the others corresponding to different states where *A* is still a single interval can be retrieved by mapping the geometry of interest to an annulus and exploiting boundary conformal field theory (BCFT) techniques [11–13]. An important feature of this approach is the possibility to access the entanglement spectrum of the theory upon determining the conformal dimensions of the operators in the BCFT. This is usually not achieved through other methods, as for instance the twist fields method, which only provide the moments of the reduced density matrix.

Recently, sparked by experimental results [14–17] and the developments of new theoretical tools [18–20], a growing interest in the interplay between entanglement and symmetries emerged. Given a system with a global symmetry and a spatial bipartition as described above, the amount of entanglement in the different charge sectors can be quantified by the symmetryresolved entanglement entropies. The symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies have been computed in 2D CFTs [19–28], integrable and free quantum field theories [29–36], as well as lattice models [23, 26, 37–52]. Moreover, the symmetry resolution of other entanglement quantifiers, such as negativity [53–57], relative entropies and distances [58, 59] and operator entanglement [60, 61] has been studied in the CFT setup as well. The symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies have been also considered in the context of the AdS/CFT correspondence and computed in some examples [62–66], finding the expected matching between bulk and boundary results.

Despite the number of results, a better understanding of the symmetry resolution of entanglement is still desirable. It will be interesting to understand better the conditions necessary for the equipartition of entanglement namely the fact that, at leading order in the cutoff expansion, the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies are independent of the charge sector. Computing the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies requires in principle the knowledge of the entanglement spectrum resolved in the various charge sectors, which is a formidable task from the analytic point of view. This problem is bypassed by first computing partition functions on Riemann surfaces with flux, known as charged moments, which then lead to the symmetry-resolved entanglement spectrum is known can help in obtaining new insights into the relation between entanglement and symmetries. Moreover, this would allow accessing the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies without first computing the charged moments, c.f. the examples in [40,41], where the analytic knowledge of the resolution of the entanglement spectrum in XXZ spin chains was used to achieve this.

The goal of this paper is to advance the understanding of symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in the BCFT setup. The BCFT description is useful, since it provides access to the full spectrum of the subregion density matrix [20]. This not only allows for the computation of the charged moments but also the direct computation of the charged partition function, and therefore, as we show below, for an easier, more efficient computation of the symmetryresolved entanglement entropy. Indeed, in presence of a symmetry, the BCFT partition function decomposes into contributions from the various charge sectors. The symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in a given charge sector can be directly computed from the terms in the BCFT partition function associated with that charge. This was first noted in the appendix of [22]. Furthermore, the BCFT picture allows for a regularization more in the spirit of quantum field theory [12]. Instead of putting the theory on the lattice, the BCFT prescription maps the entangling interval to an annulus with boundary conditions on both ends (see figure 1). Indeed, since fields are distribution valued, spacetime boundaries need the specification of boundary conditions.

We apply the general BCFT formalism to the compact and non-compact free boson CFTs. Calculations of the *total* entanglement of the compact boson from this perspective are found in [67–69]. We resolve entanglement with respect to the symmetry groups U(1), \mathbb{R} and \mathbb{Z}_2 .

Particular attention is directed to the fact that the boundary conditions need to not only preserve Virasoro symmetry but also the additional symmetry with respect to which we wish to resolve. In the case of the free compact boson, this additional symmetry group is U(1), in the case of the non-compact free boson \mathbb{R} . Since \mathbb{Z}_2 is a subgroup of both U(1) and \mathbb{R} , it is also a symmetry of the free boson CFT. For the CFTs we consider, certain boundary conditions indeed break the U(1) or \mathbb{R} symmetry, respectively, and therefore resolution with respect to these groups is no longer possible. In these cases we show, using the BCFT approach outlined above, that symmetry resolution with respect to a remnant \mathbb{Z}_2 is still possible. In general, this new approach provides access to all higher order terms in the UV cutoff expansion of symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies. We expand on the analysis of [20] by the consideration of the non-compact case, the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and the incorporation of the higher order terms in the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy. The results for U(1) and \mathbb{R} resolutions we report here are obtained in two ways. The main results are calculated directly from the BCFT partition functions. They are cross-checked by computing the charged moments and their Fourier transform.

The paper is structured as follows. In section 2 we give a general introduction to symmetryresolved entanglement entropy and define the charged moments and charged partition functions. In section 3 we review the BCFT setup for entanglement entropy and review the factorization mapping given in [12]. We introduce the boundary states of the compact free boson CFT and give the partition functions for different boundary conditions. We discuss the decompactification limit to obtain the partition functions for the non-compact free boson. From the partition functions we calculate the entanglement entropies and show that this approach recovers the universal term in the lowest order of the system size. In section 4, we present our calculation of the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy directly from the BCFT spectrum. We report the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy for the compact and non-compact free boson. We check these calculations with a more conservative approach, where we calculate the charged moments and their Fourier transform using the BCFT approach. We also provide a resolution with respect to \mathbb{Z}_2 from the exact knowledge of the spectrum. This resolution is also possible for boundary conditions which break the U(1) and $\mathbb R$ symmetries. We provide a summary of our results and further directions for research in section 5. Furthermore, we provide three appendices, appendix A, appendix B and appendix C, in which we clarify and extend certain aspects of the analysis in the paper.

2 Symmetry-Resolved Entanglement

Consider a quantum system endowed with a global abelian symmetry group *G*, generated by the charge operator Q. Under the assumption that the charge is local, we can decompose it into the contribution in the subsystem *A* and the one in its complement, namely $Q = Q_A \otimes \mathbf{1}_B + \mathbf{1}_A \otimes Q_B$, where $\mathbf{1}_i$ is the identity in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_i , i = A, B. We are interested in the cases where the system is in a pure state $|\psi\rangle$, which is an eigenstate of Q. When this happens, we have $[|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|, Q] = 0$ and, tracing this commutator over \mathcal{H}_B , it follows that $[\rho_A, Q_A] = 0$, where ρ_A is the reduced density matrix of *A*. The last identity implies that ρ_A has a block-diagonal structure, where each block corresponds to an eigenvalue *Q* of the charge operator Q_A . It reads

$$\rho_A = \bigoplus_Q \Pi_Q \rho_A = \bigoplus_Q P_A(Q) \rho_A(Q), \qquad (4)$$

where Π_Q is the projector onto the eigenspace associated to Q and $P_A(Q) \equiv tr(\Pi_Q \rho_A)$ is the probability of having Q as outcome of a measurement of Q_A . Notice that, since G is an abelian

Sci Post

group, the eigenvalues Q label the irreducible representations of the group itself.

The decomposition (4) ensures the normalization $tr\rho_A(Q) = 1$ for any value of Q and therefore one can quantify the amount of entanglement in the sector with charge Q via the symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies

$$S_n(Q) = \frac{1}{1-n} \ln \operatorname{tr} \rho_A(Q)^n, \qquad (5)$$

and the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy

$$S_1(Q) = -\operatorname{tr}\left[\rho_A(Q)\ln\rho_A(Q)\right].$$
(6)

The block-diagonal structure in (4) allows to decompose the total entanglement entropy as

$$S_1 = \sum_Q P_A(Q)S_1(Q) - \sum_Q P_A(Q)\ln P_A(Q) \equiv S_{1,c} + S_{1,f}.$$
 (7)

The first summand in (7) is known as configurational entanglement entropy [14,70–72], while the second one as fluctuation (or number) entanglement entropy [14, 73–75]. They encode information about the entanglement within each charge sector and the fluctuations between different sectors, respectively. Notice that a decomposition similar to (7) does not hold in general for the Rényi entropies. However, we observe that, under certain assumptions, it is still possible to identify a configurational and a fluctuational contribution to S_n . In order to do so, let us plug (4) into (1) and, exploiting the fact that the trace of a block diagonal matrix is the sum of the traces of the individual blocks, we obtain

$$S_n = \frac{1}{1-n} \ln \left[\sum_{Q} \left[P_A(Q) \right]^n \operatorname{tr} \rho_A(Q)^n \right].$$
(8)

In the most general case, the logarithm in (8) does not split into the sum of logarithms and therefore configurational and a fluctuational contributions cannot be identified. However, we can assume equipartition, i.e. that $tr\rho_A(Q)^n$ does not depend on the charge Q. Then, after defining $R_n \equiv tr\rho_A(Q)^n$, we can rewrite (8) as

$$S_{n} = \frac{1}{1-n} \ln R_{n} + \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\sum_{Q} [P_{A}(Q)]^{n} \right] \equiv S_{n,c} + S_{n,f}.$$
(9)

By taking the limit $n \to 1$ of $S_{n,c}$ and $S_{n,f}$ we obtain, within the restricted case we are considering, $S_{1,c}$ and $S_{1,f}$ respectively. For this reason, one can interpret $S_{n,c}$ and $S_{n,f}$ as configurational and fluctuation Rényi entropies, but only when $\operatorname{tr} \rho_A(Q)^n$ does not depend on Q. Notice that, when this happens, the system is characterised by an *exact* equipartition of the entanglement, namely (5) and (6) do not depend on Q at any order. In section 4, we discuss an instance where $\operatorname{tr} \rho_A(Q)^n$ is actually independent of the charge sector and therefore the decomposition (9) is valid.

The key object to compute is the replica partition function $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ at fixed charge Q,

$$\mathcal{Z}_n(Q) = \operatorname{tr}(\Pi_Q \rho_A^n), \tag{10}$$

which allows to write the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies as

$$S_n(Q) = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \frac{\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)}{\mathcal{Z}_1(Q)^n}, \qquad S_1(Q) = \lim_{n \to 1} S_n(Q).$$
(11)



The computation of $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ requires the knowledge of the entanglement spectrum and its symmetry resolution. This information is often difficult to access, in particular through analytic techniques. A possible way to overcome this problem relies on suitably re-expressing the projector Π_Q . More explicitly, let us consider two particular cases, namely G = U(1), $G = \mathbb{R}$ and $G = \mathbb{Z}_N$. When G = U(1) or $G = \mathbb{R}$, we can exploit a Fourier representation of the projector Π_Q and $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ can be written as [19, 20]

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}(Q) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\lambda}^{\lambda} d\mu \, e^{-i\mu Q} \mathrm{tr}\left(e^{i\mu Q_{A}} \rho_{A}^{n}\right). \tag{12}$$

When the charges Q are discrete (U(1) group), the integration bound is $\lambda = \pi$, whereas for continuous charges Q (\mathbb{R} group), the integration bound tends to infinity, $\lambda \to \infty$. We observe that $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ is the Fourier transform of the charged moments

$$\mathcal{Z}_n(\mu) = \operatorname{tr}\left(e^{i\mu\mathcal{Q}_A}\rho_A^n\right). \tag{13}$$

When $G = \mathbb{Z}_N$, the restricted charge operator has *N* eigenvalues. The projector Π_Q can be expanded over the *N* elements of the group and $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ reads [19]

$$\mathcal{Z}_n(Q) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} e^{-\frac{2\pi i j Q}{N}} \operatorname{tr}\left(e^{\frac{2\pi i j Q_A}{N}} \rho_A^n\right), \qquad (14)$$

which leads to the definition of the corresponding charged moments

$$\mathcal{Z}_n(j) = \operatorname{tr}\left(e^{\frac{2\pi i j \mathcal{Q}_A}{N}} \rho_A^n\right), \qquad \mathcal{Z}_n(Q) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} e^{-\frac{2\pi i j Q}{N}} \mathcal{Z}_n(j).$$
(15)

In section 4.2, we work out the case of \mathbb{Z}_2 as explicit example.

By first computing the charged moments and then $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ using (12) and (14), the symmetryresolved entanglement entropies have been successfully computed in various theories and for different entangling regions [19, 20, 29, 37, 63–65]. This is usually done exploiting the fact that the charged moments can be seen as partition functions of QFTs defined on an *n*-sheeted Riemann surface pierced by an Aharanov-Bohm flux [19]. As we will explain in detail in section **3**, the BCFT approach for the computation of the entanglement entropies is particularly useful for the purpose of the symmetry resolution, as it gives directly access to how the elements of the entanglement spectrum are distributed in the various symmetry sectors. Thus, one can compute $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ and the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies without resorting to the charged moments and, moreover, to all orders in the UV cutoff. In section **3**, we expand on this idea and we provide various examples involving free CFTs.

3 Entanglement Entropy and BCFT

It has been observed in [12] that the standard procedure of decomposing Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$ where *A*, *B* are spatial regions is a priori incomplete when working with quantum fields. Quantum fields are distributions and need to be smeared over regions of space, and thus a spatial domain cannot simply be cut sharply into separate spatial regions *A*, *B* without indicating how the fields should behave at the boundaries between *A* and *B*. In short boundary conditions need to be specified at ∂A and ∂B .

When *A* is a single entangling interval this is achieved as pictorially represented in figure 1. First, small disks¹ of radius ϵ , which takes on the role of UV cutoff, are excised around the two

¹A priori one might choose any shape. However, any shape, topologically equivalent to a disk, can be mapped into a disk by a conformal transformation. Disks respect the local rotation invariance and thus they represent an optimal choice for our purposes.



Figure 1: The BCFT setup of the entanglement entropy. Small disks of radius ϵ are excised around the entangling point (left panel). The resulting manifold is mapped into an annulus (right panel) by a conformal transformation in such a way that the small disks encircling the entangling points become the boundaries of the annulus (blue circles).

endpoints of *A*. Second, boundary conditions α and β are imposed on these cutoff disks. Since *A* and *B* share their boundaries, the Hilbert space for *B* is also characterized by the boundary conditions α and β . This procedure is encoded in a factorization map [12]

$$\iota: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{A,\alpha\beta} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B,\alpha\beta} \,, \qquad \iota: |\psi\rangle \mapsto \iota \, |\psi\rangle \,, \tag{16}$$

for $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$. The boundary conditions thus depend on the particular choice of factorization ι . The reduced Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{A,\alpha\beta}$ and its reduced density matrices are obtained by tracing over $\mathcal{H}_{B,\alpha\beta}$,

$$\rho_{A} = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{B,\alpha\beta}} \left[\iota |\psi\rangle \langle \psi| \iota^{\dagger} \right].$$
(17)

Our interest lies on CFT and we choose boundary conditions α , β which preserve conformal symmetry, i.e. $T = \overline{T}|_{boundary}$ [76, 77]. The new manifold with excised disks is mapped [12] into an annulus by a conformal transformation, see the right panel in figure 1. In this coordinate frame, traces of ρ_A^n are readily evaluated as BCFT partition functions. When $n \neq 1$, n annuli are glued along A to construct a replica annulus [12,13] of width W and circumference $2\pi n$. In the ground state of an infinite system, such as the one leading to (3), the width is $W = 2\log\left[\frac{\ell}{\epsilon} - 1\right] \approx 2\log\frac{\ell}{\epsilon} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$, where ℓ is the length of the interval A; the width W is discussed in [13] for various other states.

In terms of the modular nome,

$$q = e^{2\pi i \tau} = e^{-2\pi^2/W}$$
, $\tilde{q} = e^{-2\pi i/\tau} = e^{-2W}$, $\tau = i\pi/W$, (18)

the reduced density matrix is [13]

$$\rho_A = \frac{q^{L_0 - c/24}}{Z_{\alpha\beta}} \,. \tag{19}$$

Thus, one arrives at a relation between the traces of the density matrix and BCFT partition functions

$$\mathcal{Z}_n = \operatorname{Tr}_{\alpha\beta}\left[\rho_A^n\right] = \frac{Z_{\alpha\beta}(q^n)}{(Z_{\alpha\beta}(q))^n},$$
(20)

where we abbreviated the symbol for the trace $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{A,\alpha\beta}} \to \operatorname{Tr}_{\alpha\beta}$ and used the standard expression for a BCFT partition function, $Z_{\alpha\beta}(q) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\alpha\beta} \left[q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}} \right]$ with the Virasoro zero mode L_0 and the central charge *c*. The denominator ensures $\operatorname{Tr}_{\alpha\beta}[\rho_A]=1$.

In this work, we consider CFTs with extended symmetries, namely with a symmetry algebra larger than the Virasoro algebra. A BCFT has in general less symmetry than the original CFT since the introduction of a boundary breaks some symmetries and so the mapping (16) breaks these as well. The remaining symmetry algebra, after imposing ι , is called \mathcal{A} in the following. In these cases, the Hilbert space decomposes,

$$\mathcal{H}_{A,\alpha\beta} \equiv \mathcal{H}_{\alpha\beta} = \bigoplus_{i} \mathcal{H}_{i}^{\oplus n_{\alpha\beta}^{i}}, \qquad (21)$$

where *i* runs over the allowed representations of the extended symmetry algebra \mathcal{A} . Since we require the boundary conditions to preserve conformal symmetry, the extended algebra contains the Virasoro algebra, $\text{Vir} \subset \mathcal{A}$. The multiplicities $n_{\alpha\beta}^i$ are determined by the imposed boundary conditions α and β . The BCFT partition function decomposes then into characters $\chi_i(q) = \text{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_i}\left[q^{L_0-\frac{c}{24}}\right]$ for representations *i*,

$$Z_{\alpha\beta}(q^n) = \sum_i n^i_{\alpha\beta} \chi_i(q^n) = \langle \langle \alpha \| \tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n} \left(L_0 - \frac{c}{24} \right)} \| \beta \rangle \rangle.$$
(22)

In the last equality, the BCFT partition functions are computed in the *S*-dual channel via boundary states

$$\|\alpha\rangle\rangle = \sum_{j} B^{j}_{\alpha} |j\rangle\rangle, \qquad (23)$$

where $|j\rangle\rangle$, satisfying $(L_n - \bar{L}_{-n})|j\rangle\rangle = 0$, is an Ishibashi state for the j^{th} representation of \mathcal{A} . An example is given below for the free boson. They satisfy an "orthogonality relation" $\langle\langle j|\tilde{q}^{L_0-\frac{c}{24}}|i\rangle\rangle = \chi_i(\tilde{q})\delta_{ij}$. The coefficients B^j_{α} stand in relation with the $n^i_{\alpha\beta}$ via the Cardy constraint and the reader is referred to [13, 78] for details.

3.1 Free Boson BCFT

The ideas of the previous subsection are now exemplified in the free boson CFT. This section recapitulates results which already exist in the literature, see for instance [67].

The free boson CFT on the plane is governed by the action

$$S = \frac{g}{2} \int_{\Sigma} d\tau d\sigma (\partial_{\mu} \varphi) (\partial^{\mu} \varphi) = g \int_{\Sigma} d^{2} z (\partial \varphi) (\bar{\partial} \varphi).$$
(24)

This action is invariant under conformal transformations and also under U(1) transformations implemented by $\varphi + const$. In fact, the symmetry algebra of the massless free boson is given by a $\hat{u}(1) \times \hat{u}(1)$ Kac-Moody algebra and two copies of the Virasoro algebra, generated by the currents

$$J = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n z^{-n-1}, \quad T = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} L_n z^{-n-2}, \qquad \bar{J} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \bar{a}_n \bar{z}^{-n-1}, \quad \bar{T} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \bar{L}_n \bar{z}^{-n-2}.$$
 (25)

The U(1) symmetry responsible for the shift $\varphi + const$. is generated by the U(1) charge a_0 . Additionally, there are the spectrum generating modes a_n with $n \neq 0$. Together they form the $\hat{u}(1)$ algebra. The modes satisfy the algebra

$$[a_n, a_m] = n\delta_{n+m,0}, \qquad (26a)$$

$$[L_n, a_m] = -ma_{n+m}, \tag{26b}$$

$$[L_n, L_m] = (n-m)L_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}n(n^2 - 1)\delta_{n+m,0}, \qquad (26c)$$

and similarly for \bar{a}_n and \bar{L}_n . The spectrum of the compact boson with periodicity $\varphi \simeq \varphi + 2\pi R$ is given by primary states $|(m, w)\rangle$ and their descendants, where $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ is a momentum quantum number and $w \in \mathbb{Z}$ is one for the winding sectors. The primaries have conformal weights and $\hat{u}(1)$ charges

$$h_{m,w} = \frac{Q_{m,w}^2}{8\pi g}, \qquad \qquad Q_{m,w} = \frac{m}{R} - \frac{4\pi g \, wR}{2}, \qquad (27a)$$

$$\bar{h}_{m,w} = \frac{\overline{Q}_{m,w}^2}{8\pi g}, \qquad \qquad \overline{Q}_{m,w} = \frac{m}{R} + \frac{4\pi g \, wR}{2}.$$
(27b)

BCFTs are defined on Riemann surfaces with a boundary, usually taken to be the upper half plane or an annulus. Two types of boundary conditions may be imposed on these boundaries, which preserve a single copy of $\hat{u}(1)$, defined by the gluing conditions $J = \pm \bar{J}|_{bdy}$. Hence, in the notation of the previous section, $\mathcal{A} = \hat{u}(1)$.

For $J = \overline{J}|_{bdy}$ the gluing conditions result in Neumann (N) boundary conditions

$$\partial_{\sigma}\varphi|_{bdy} = 0, \qquad (28)$$

and for $J = -\bar{J}|_{bdy}$ they result in Dirichlet (D) boundary conditions

$$\partial_{\tau}\varphi|_{bdy} = 0. \tag{29}$$

In the D case, the value of the bosonic field may take different values, φ_0 and φ'_0 , at the two boundaries of the annulus, see figure 1. In the case of N boundary conditions, the structure is identical when describing the model in terms of the dual bosonic field θ [78]. If the boson φ is decomposed into left- and right-movers, $\varphi = \phi + \overline{\phi}$, then the dual field is decomposed as $\theta = \phi - \overline{\phi}$. In the case of N boundaries, the dual field θ assumes fixed values θ_0 and θ'_0 to either end of the annulus. The boundary conditions (28) and (29) can be expressed as boundary states, which are reported in appendix A.1.

In the following we state the partition functions and spectra of all combinations of N and D conditions on the boundaries, expressed once via the boundary modes and thereafter via the bulk modes. Derivations would lead us too far afield and thus are not provided here. The reader can find a good introduction in [78].

The partition functions are computed from (22). For the case of Neumann boundaries to either end with θ_0 and θ'_0 it is

$$Z_{NN}(q) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \chi_m^{(\Delta \theta_0)}(q) = \mathsf{g}_N^2 \sum_{w \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{2\pi i g w R \Delta \theta_0} \chi_{(0,w)}(\tilde{q}),$$
(30)

where $\Delta \theta_0 = \theta_0 - \theta'_0$. The second and third expressions here correspond to the second and third expressions in (22)². We have introduced $\hat{u}(1)$ characters and the Dedekind η function

$$\chi_m^{(\Delta\theta_0)}(q) = \frac{q^{h_m^{(\Delta\theta_0)}}}{\eta(q)}, \qquad \chi_{(m,w)}(q) = \frac{q^{h_{m,w}}}{\eta(q)}, \qquad \eta(q) = q^{\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n). \tag{31}$$

The boundary fields have conformal dimensions $h_m^{(\Delta\theta_0)} = \frac{(Q_m^{(\Delta\theta_0)})^2}{8\pi g}$, where the $\hat{u}(1)$ charges lie in the NN spectrum σ_{NN} given by

$$Q_m^{(\Delta\theta_0)} = 4\pi g \left(\frac{m}{2\pi g R} + \frac{\Delta\theta_0}{2\pi}\right), \qquad m \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(32)

Comparing with (22), the first equality of (30) shows that all $\hat{u}(1)$ families with conformal weight $h_m^{(\Delta \theta_0)}$ appear for $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ with multiplicity $n_{\theta'_0,\theta_0}^m = 1$. The second equality phrases the partition function in the *S*-dual channel, revealing which bulk modes run through the annulus: as can be read off from (22) and the boundary state (A.1) in appendix A.1, these are the ones with $\hat{u}(1)$ charges $Q_{0,w}$, c.f. (27).

Similarly, for the case of DD boundary conditions with φ_0 and φ'_0 to each end of the annulus

$$Z_{DD}(q) = \sum_{w \in \mathbb{Z}} \chi_w^{(\Delta\varphi_0)}(q) = g_D^2 \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{i\frac{m}{R}\Delta\varphi_0} \chi_{(m,0)}(\tilde{q}), \qquad (33)$$

²The way to derive (**30**) is to take the $||N(\theta_0)\rangle\rangle$ and compute their overlap $\langle\langle N(\theta'_0) || \tilde{q}^{L_0-1/24} || N(\theta_0) \rangle\rangle$ exploiting that $\langle\langle (0, w') | \tilde{q}^{L_0-1/24} || (0, w) \rangle\rangle = \delta_{w',w} \chi_{(0,w)}(\tilde{q})$. This provides the third expression in (**30**). A subsequent Poisson resummation yields the second expression.

Sci Post

where $\Delta \varphi = \varphi_0 - \varphi'_0$. The boundary fields have conformal dimensions $h_w^{(\Delta \varphi_0)} = \frac{(Q_w^{(\Delta \varphi_0)})^2}{8\pi g}$, where the $\hat{u}(1)$ charges lie in the DD spectrum σ_{DD} given by

$$Q_w^{(\Delta\varphi_0)} = 4\pi g \left(wR + \frac{\Delta\varphi_0}{2\pi} \right), \qquad w \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(34)

The first equality of (33) shows that all $\hat{u}(1)$ families with conformal weight $h_w^{(\Delta \varphi_0)}$ appear for $w \in \mathbb{Z}$ with multiplicity $n_{\varphi'_0,\varphi_0}^w = 1$. The second equality in (33) phrases the partition function in the *S*-dual channel, revealing which bulk modes run through the annulus, namely the ones with charge $Q_{m,0}$ in (27).

The partition function for mixed boundary conditions, DN and ND, is

$$Z_{DN}(q) = Z_{ND}(q) = q^{\frac{1}{48}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{n-\frac{1}{2}})^{-1} = g_N g_D \left(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 + \tilde{q}^k) \right)^{-1}.$$
 (35)

Note that this partition function does not have U(1) symmetry [78, 79], indicated by the fact that Z_{ND} does not decompose into $\hat{u}(1)$ characters χ_Q built from a_n modes for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Instead, the spectrum is given by a twisted $\hat{u}(1)$ representation built on a primary twist field σ of dimension $h_{\sigma} = 1/16$. This Fock space is constructed by modes a_r with half-integral index, $r \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\mathcal{H}_{ND} = \left\{ a_{-r_1} a_{-r_2} \dots a_{-r_k} |\sigma\rangle \right\}.$$
(36)

Importantly, this implies the absence of the U(1) charge operator a_0 . This breaking of the U(1) symmetry by mixed boundary conditions is demonstrated with standard field theoretic methods in appendix A.2.

Before concluding our review of the free boson BCFT, we consider the decompactification limit $R \to \infty$, so that the target space of the boson becomes \mathbb{R} . In the NN case the partition function becomes

$$Z_{NN}^{(\infty)} = \frac{1}{\eta(q)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\alpha \, q^{\frac{\alpha^2}{8\pi_g}} = \mathsf{g}_{N,\infty}^2 \frac{1}{\eta(\tilde{q})},\tag{37}$$

where the g-factor is now $g_{N,\infty}^2 = \sqrt{4\pi g}$. This means that *all* $\hat{u}(1)$ families occur in this BCFT with multiplicity one and conformal dimension $h_{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha^2}{8\pi g}$. This is in line with setting $\alpha = 2m/R$ in (32). The parameter θ_0 must vanish in the $R \to \infty$ limit as can be seen from the phases in the boundary state (A.1a) of appendix A.1, which would otherwise be ill-defined; θ_0 is thus dropped henceforth from all N labels in the decompactification limit. Only a single $\hat{u}(1)$ family of bulk modes is required to describe this BCFT, namely that of the unit field with h = 0, as is indicated by the absence of any summation or integration in \tilde{q} expression of (37).

In the DD case

$$Z_{DD}^{(\infty)} = \frac{q^{\frac{g}{2\pi}(\Delta\varphi_0)^2}}{\eta(q)} = g_{D,\infty}^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\beta \, e^{i\beta\Delta\varphi_0} \, \frac{\tilde{q}^{h_\beta}}{\eta(\tilde{q})}, \tag{38}$$

with g-factor $g_{D,\infty}^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi g}}$. Observe that there is only one $\hat{u}(1)$ family amongst the boundary spectrum, that of conformal dimension $h_0^{(\Delta \varphi_0)}$, c.f. (34). This is the well known observation that winding modes, $w \neq 0$, are too heavy to be present in the decompactification limit. Note that the parameter φ_0 is still non-vanishing. It is now the bulk channel in which all $\hat{u}(1)$ families appear in the annulus partition function. They have dimension $h_{\beta} = \frac{\beta^2}{8\pi g}$.

4 A New Take on Symmetry Resolution

In this section we present a shift of perspective on the subject of symmetry resolution, which is possible whenever the spectrum of the entanglement BCFT is accessible. The focus is shifted away from charged moments toward the actual structure of the entanglement spectrum (21). As will become clear, this new approach simplifies the computations of symmetry-resolved entanglement significantly and provides new structural insights into the entanglement of the free boson theory.

In order for the setup and the cutting operation described in section 3 to work for SREE, additional constraints need to be imposed. As noted in [12], the cutting operation ι does not necessarily preserve all symmetries of the system. Since the cutting operation ι is not unique, one chooses one that preserves half of the Virasoro symmetry to utilize BCFT methods. This corresponds to placing conformal boundary conditions at the entangling points.

In order to calculate the SREE for a system with some additional symmetry group, the cutting operation must also preserve said additional symmetry. This is vital, as the reduced density matrix after the cutting (16) needs to decompose as in (4). This fact can formally be expressed as follows: The condition that implies the reduced density matrix to be block-decomposed into the various charge sectors is $[\rho_A, Q_A] = 0$, where both operators in the commutator are restricted to the subsystem of interest. In the language of [12], this condition can be expressed as

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{B,q,\theta}}\left(\iota[|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|,\mathcal{Q}]\iota^{\dagger}\right) = 0.$$
(39)

To check its validity, one should access the explicit form of the mapping ι defined in (16), which in general is not known. However, one can say that any ι which maps the initial CFT to a given BCFT which breaks the symmetry generated by \mathcal{Q} cannot satisfy (39). In the following we mention a case where the U(1) symmetry of a compact boson CFT (as well as the \mathbb{R} symmetry of a non-compact boson) is broken once the theory is considered on the annulus with DN or ND boundary conditions and we argue that for this choice (39) cannot hold.

In the following we calculate the charged partition functions (10) for the compact and the non-compact free boson on the annulus with NN or DD boundaries. We consider the symmetry resolution of entanglement with respect to various symmetry groups. The results obtained are cross-checked by computing the charged moments and, in doing this, we expand on the calculation of [20] by explicitly investigating different boundary conditions. Fourier transforming the charged moments yields the $Z_n(Q)$, which match the results obtained with the previous approach.

4.1 *U*(1) Resolution for NN and DD Boundaries Revisited

In order to calculate the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy, the starting point is the decomposition of the Hilbert space (21) into charge sectors in the presence of an additional symmetry *G*. The crucial observation is that the projector in the definition of the charged partition function (10) simply selects precisely one representation \mathcal{H}_i . The action of the free boson, eq. (24), is invariant under a translation of the angular variable, $\varphi \rightarrow \varphi + a$. This leads to the conservation of a U(1) charge Q given by the zero mode of the current J(z). Without boundaries, the symmetry is in fact $U(1) \times U(1)$. Upon implementing DD or NN boundaries, this is broken to a single U(1), c.f. appendix A.2 for a derivation. The Hilbert space of the corresponding quantum theory therefore decomposes into $\hat{u}(1)$ representations \mathcal{H}_Q ,

$$\mathcal{H}_{\alpha\alpha} = \bigoplus_{Q \in \sigma_{\alpha\alpha}} \mathcal{H}_Q \,. \tag{40}$$

The charge eigenvalues Q lie in the sets $\sigma_{\alpha\alpha}$ provided in (32) for NN boundaries and in (34) for DD boundaries. To improve readability, we drop the indices of the charges provided there,

e.g. $Q_m^{(\Delta\theta_0)} \to Q$. The decomposition (40) is the free boson analog of (21). As explained above, ND and DN boundaries break U(1) symmetry and hence do not decompose as (40). This case is discussed later.

Each representation \mathcal{H}_Q consists of a U(1) primary state $|Q\rangle$ with charge eigenvalue Q and its descendants constructed via the modes a_{-n} . These representations are irreducible³. The states of charge Q are also Virasoro primaries with conformal dimension $h_Q = \frac{Q^2}{8\pi g}$ [81], where g is the coupling introduced in the free boson action (24).

Compact Free Boson: DD and NN boundary conditions: To calculate the charged partition functions (10) for the free boson, note that the spectra (30) and (33) decompose into $\hat{u}(1)$ representations. This means that the projector Π_Q in (10) simply selects a particular $\hat{u}(1)$ character if the charge Q is in the spectrum, and otherwise this expression vanishes. The probability distribution reads

$$P_{A}(Q) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\alpha\alpha} \left[\Pi_{Q} \rho_{A} \right] = \begin{cases} \frac{\chi_{Q}(q)}{Z_{\alpha\alpha}}, & Q \in \sigma_{\alpha\alpha}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(41)

where the normalization $Z_{\alpha\alpha}$ is given in (22). By construction, $\sum_{Q \in \sigma_{\alpha\alpha}} P_A(Q) = 1$. For general *n*, this becomes

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}(Q) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\alpha\alpha} \left[\Pi_{Q} \rho_{A}^{n} \right] = \begin{cases} \frac{\chi_{Q}(q^{n})}{Z_{\alpha\alpha}^{n}}, & Q \in \sigma_{\alpha\alpha}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$
(42)

The characters are $\chi_Q(q) = \frac{q^{h_Q}}{\eta(q)}$, where h_Q are the conformal weights corresponding to the U(1) charges in $\sigma_{\alpha\alpha}$, c.f. (32) and (34). Similar observations have been also made in [22], without providing explicit formulas and examples.

The fact that the form of the $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ in all the considered U(1) cases are the same can be understood as follows: They contain information about the partition function in a particular U(1) sector and therefore are fully determined by the symmetry. The role of the boundary conditions is to determine which charges enter in the spectrum to begin with.

The entanglement entropy, given by (7), depends on the spectrum and therefore on the boundary conditions. A detailed discussion of the entanglement and Rényi entropies in the free boson CFT is provided in appendix B. In contrast, the form of the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies only depend on the form of the characters χ_Q and therefore they have the same form independent of the boundary conditions, although the individual charges in the spectrum differ. Remember that here we focus on the same boundary conditions on both ends of the cylinder.

This new perspective also makes equipartition evident to *all* orders in the cutoff, independent of the boundary conditions. It follows directly from (42) for charges $Q \in \sigma_{aa}$ that

$$S_{n}^{\alpha\alpha}(Q) = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{n}(Q)}{\left(\mathcal{Z}_{1}(Q)\right)^{n}} \right] = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{\eta^{n}(q)}{\eta(q^{n})} \right]$$
$$= \frac{W}{12} \frac{n+1}{n} + \frac{1}{1-n} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \log \left[\frac{(1-e^{-2Wk})^{n}}{1-e^{-2Wk/n}} \right] - \frac{1}{2} \log \left[\frac{W}{\pi} \right] + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\log n}{1-n}.$$
(43)

In going to the second line, the conformal weights carrying the charge dependence have simply cancelled due to the explicit form of the characters, leading to equipartition of entanglement. Furthermore $\eta(\tilde{q}) = \sqrt{-i\tau} \eta(q)$ was used. The terms of order *W* and log *W* in (43) have been

³There are no null vectors built purely from a_n modes, which is a direct consequence of the algebra (26a). In contrast, representations built with Virasoro modes at c = 1 may indeed have null vectors [80,81].

first found in [20]. In this manuscript, we extend the analysis to all orders in the UV cutoff expansion, discussing the consequences of choosing different boundary conditions.

Note that the result in (43) does not explicitly depend on the compactification radius R, apart from the fact that $Q \in \sigma_{\alpha\alpha}$, where $\sigma_{\alpha\alpha}$ is dependent on R. Therefore, this result also holds for the non-compact free boson theory. A very important lesson from this section is that symmetry-resolved entanglement in the case of the free boson simply computes the entanglement of a single U(1) character. It is hence no surprise that (43) coincides with the Rényi entropies of the non-compact free boson with DD boundaries, (B.4) in appendix B, since that partition function consists only of a single character, which explains the occurrence of the log W term.

Equipartiton of entanglement is also reflected in the Rényi entropies

$$S_{n}^{\alpha\alpha} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log\left[\frac{\eta^{n}(q)}{\eta(q^{n})}\right] + \frac{1}{1-n} \log\left[\frac{\sum_{Q\in\sigma_{\alpha\alpha}}q^{nh_{Q}}}{\left(\sum_{Q\in\sigma_{\alpha\alpha}}q^{h_{Q}}\right)^{n}}\right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{1-n} \log\left[\frac{\eta^{n}(q)}{\eta(q^{n})}\right] + \frac{1}{1-n} \log\left[\sum_{Q\in\sigma_{\alpha\alpha}}\left(P_{A}(Q)\right)^{n}\right] = S_{n,c}^{\alpha\alpha} + S_{n,f}^{\alpha\alpha}, \quad (44)$$

where the expressions in terms of q of (30) and (33) were used. The second summand stems from the $\hat{u}(1)$ primaries in the theory and, as explained in (7), it is the fluctuation Rényi entropy $S_{n,f}^{\alpha\alpha}$, accounting for fluctuations between charge sectors. Again, this result is exact to all orders in the cutoff and holds for *all* Rényi parameters *n*. The first term must thus be the configurational Rényi entropy $S_{n,c}^{\alpha\alpha}$, describing the entanglement in one charge sector. It accounts for the Fock space structure of the $\hat{u}(1)$ towers built on each primary state and is responsible for the well-known leading term of the Rényi entropy,

$$S_{n,c}^{\alpha\alpha} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log\left[\frac{\eta^{n}(q)}{\eta(q^{n})}\right] = \frac{1}{1-n} \log\left[\frac{\eta^{n}(\tilde{q})}{\eta(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}})} \frac{\sqrt{-in\tau}}{(\sqrt{-i\tau})^{n}}\right]$$
$$= \frac{W}{12} \frac{n+1}{n} + \frac{1}{1-n} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \log\left[\frac{(1-e^{-2Wk})^{n}}{1-e^{-2Wk/n}}\right] - \frac{1}{2} \log\left[\frac{W}{\pi}\right] + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\log n}{1-n}, \quad (45)$$

where $\eta(\tilde{q}) = \sqrt{-i\tau} \eta(q)$ has been used in the first and $\tau = i\pi/W$ and $\tilde{q} = e^{-2W}$ in the second line. Note that this expression is exact, and it is clear that performing $\epsilon \to 0$, i.e. $W \to \infty$, suppresses the infinite series, which stems from the $\hat{u}(1)$ descendants in the \tilde{q} channel. Observe that $S_{n,c}^{\alpha\alpha} = S_n^{\alpha\alpha}(Q)$, i.e. the symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies account for the configurational Rényi entropies. As stressed in section 2, the decomposition in the last step of (44) holds only in case of exact equipartition of entanglement entropies, which is what we find here for the compact massless free boson.

The $n \to 1$ limit of the configurational entropy $S_{n,c}^{DD}$ is straightforwardly taken in the expression (45). The full expression for the entanglement entropy is

$$S_{1} = \lim_{n \to 1} (S_{n,c}^{\alpha \alpha} + S_{n,f}^{\alpha \alpha}) = \lim_{n \to 1} \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{\eta^{n}(q)}{\eta(q^{n})} \right] - \sum_{Q \in \sigma_{\alpha \alpha}} P_{A}(Q) \log \left[P_{A}(Q) \right].$$
(46)

Note that the last two terms in (45) cancel out with terms of fluctuation entropy, once it is expressed in terms of \tilde{q} , at least for finite compactification radius. In the rest of this subsection we encounter an example where the fluctuation entropy is identically zero, and the final two terms indeed appear in the full entanglement entropy, perhaps contrary to expectations.

Non-compact Free Boson: DD and NN boundary conditions: It is illuminating to consider the decompactification limit $R \to \infty$. We begin with the DD case, for which the entire spectrum consists only of the w = 0 $\hat{u}(1)$ family, see (38). Thus $P_A(Q) = 1$ if $Q = Q_0^{(\Delta \varphi_0)}$ and zero otherwise, see (34). The Rényi entropies become

$$S_{n}^{DD,(\infty)} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{Z_{D(\varphi_{0}^{\prime}),D(\varphi_{0})}^{(\infty)}(q^{n})}{\left(Z_{D(\varphi_{0}^{\prime}),D(\varphi_{0})}^{(\infty)}(q)\right)^{n}} \right] = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{\eta^{n}(q)}{\eta(q^{n})} \right] = S_{n,c}^{DD}.$$
(47)

There is no fluctuation entropy, $S_{n,f}^{DD} = 0$, as expected, since a second charge sector would be required for fluctuations to occur. Put another way, there is no uncertainty in the charge measurement. No g-factor appears in the final result. It would, if one were to neglect the higher orders and approximate to keep only the leading terms in \tilde{q} , since it cancels out in the transformation from \tilde{q} to q.

The result (47) has interesting consequences for the entanglement entropy,

$$S_1^{DD,(\infty)} = \frac{W}{6} - \frac{1}{2} \log\left[\frac{W}{\pi}\right] - \frac{1}{2} - \sum_{k=1} \left[\log(1 - e^{-2Wk}) - \frac{2Wk}{e^{2Wk} - 1}\right].$$
 (48)

The second and third term is usually associated with the SREE for a charge sector Q. Here, however, it already appears in the regular entanglement entropy, since there are no contributions from the fluctuation entropy to cancel these terms.

The NN partition function of the non-compact boson includes, in contrast to the DD case, *all* $\hat{u}(1)$ families, c.f. (37). The configurational entropy remains as it is, and may be directly read off from (45). It remains to calculate the fluctuation Rényi entropy, which in this case is

$$S_{n,f}^{NN,(\infty)} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}} q^{n\alpha^2/(8\pi g)} d\alpha}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} q^{\beta^2/(8\pi g)} d\beta \right)^n} \right] = \log g_{N,(\infty)}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \log \left[\frac{W}{\pi} \right] - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\log n}{1-n}, \quad (49)$$

where $g_{N,\infty} = (4\pi g)^{\frac{1}{4}}$. The second and third terms cancel in the Rényi entropy with terms of the configurational Rényi entropy (45) and in the limit $n \to 1$ the entanglement entropy reads,

$$S_1^{NN,(\infty)} = \frac{W}{6} + \log g_{N,(\infty)}^2 - \sum_{k=1} \left[\log \left(1 - e^{-2Wk} \right) - \frac{2Wk}{e^{2Wk} - 1} \right].$$
(50)

Observe that, in contrast to the DD case, the g-factor now appears and the log W term is absent.

Before moving on to check these results using the charged moments, we comment on the case of mixed boundary conditions, i.e. DN and ND. While it is possible to calculate the entanglement entropy in these cases, it is not possible to resolve with respect to U(1), because the mixed boundary conditions break this symmetry. This can be seen either from the boundary term required in the conservation equations of the U(1) charges, as reviewed in appendix A.2, or from the modes a_r . Indeed, the modes acquire half-integer indices, $r \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}$, for mixed boundaries and therefore the conserved U(1) charge a_0 is not defined. Therefore, resolution with respect to U(1) is not possible in these cases, which can be rephrased by saying that (39) does not hold when $\alpha\beta = \text{ND/DN}$, and Q given by the U(1) generator. However, the ND and DN spectra still contain \mathbb{Z}_2 representations, with respect to which we resolve in section 4.2.

4.1.1 Cross-check: Compact Boson

In this section we confirm our previous results by employing the standard method in symmetry resolution, namely the U(1) charged moments of the compact boson CFT. In order to calculate

the charged moments to all orders, we employ the boundary state approach. We advocate for this approach as it allows to calculate to arbitrary orders in the UV cutoff. Therefore it is a vital addition to the usual symmetry resolution toolkit, which is based mainly on charged twist fields, which only allow to extract the leading terms. We note that this formalism has already been employed in [20], but has garnered little attention since.

The charged moments (13) for a U(1) theory read

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{\alpha\alpha}(\mu) = \frac{1}{Z_{\alpha\alpha}^{n}} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{\alpha\alpha}}\left((q^{n})^{L_{0} - \frac{1}{24}} e^{i\mu\mathcal{Q}} \right),$$
(51)

where α still labels boundary conditions, $\mathcal{H}_{\alpha\alpha}$ is the corresponding Hilbert space. In the case of the free boson, (40) leads to the decomposition of the charged moments into *charged U*(1) characters,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{\alpha\alpha}(\mu) = \frac{1}{Z_{\alpha\alpha}^{n}} \sum_{Q \in \sigma_{\alpha\alpha}} \chi_{Q}(q^{n}, \mu, 0), \qquad (52)$$

where $\sigma_{\alpha\alpha}$ is the spectrum of charges in the Hilbert space with boundary condition α , given by (32) in the case of NN boundaries and (34) for DD boundaries. For a continuous spectrum, such as that of the non-compact boson, the sum becomes an integral. The *charged* characters are defined as

$$\chi_Q(q,\mu,u) = e^{i8\pi^2 gu} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}_Q^{\hat{u}(1)}} \left(q^{L_0 - \frac{1}{24}} e^{i\mu Q} \right) = e^{i8\pi^2 gu} e^{i\mu Q} \frac{q^{h_Q}}{\eta(q)}.$$
(53)

The necessity of the phase parameter *u* will become evident below.

This expression is unfortunately not useful in the $W \to \infty$ limit, in which $q \to 1^-$. In the *S*-dual frame on the other hand, the expansion variable \tilde{q} tends to zero for $W \to \infty$. Charged moments can readily be computed in this frame by virtue of boundary states $\langle \langle \alpha | |$. These are given in appendix A.1, for N boundaries in (A.1a) and for D boundaries in (A.1b). These allow for a straightforward expansion in orders of \tilde{q} . For U(1) characters the *S*-modular transformation is represented by a Fourier transformation, and thus the charged characters transform as

$$\int dQ' S_{Q,Q'} \chi_{Q'}(q,\mu,u) = \chi_Q \left(\tilde{q}, -\frac{\mu}{\tau}, u - \frac{1}{2\tau} \left(\frac{\mu}{2\pi} \right)^2 \right).$$
(54)

Here $S_{Q,Q'} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi g}} e^{i\frac{QQ'}{2g}}$ are the matrix elements of the *S* transformation [82].

Looking at the definition (13) of the charged moments, we observe that they are essentially partition functions with an inserted exponential. Therefore, using the transformation law of the charged characters and (22), the charged moments can be expressed in terms of the boundary states, in this case given by (A.1) in appendix A.1. The charged moments read

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{\alpha\alpha}(\mu) = \frac{1}{Z_{\alpha\alpha}^{n}} \tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}2\pi g\left(\frac{\mu}{2\pi}\right)^{2}} \langle \langle \alpha \| \left(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}} \right)^{L_{0}-\frac{1}{24}} e^{-i\frac{\mu}{n\tau}\mathcal{Q}} \| \alpha \rangle \rangle.$$
(55)

Calculating the charged moments using (55) yields

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{DD}(\mu) = \frac{1}{Z_{DD}^{n}} \sum_{Q \in \sigma_{DD}} \frac{1}{\eta(q^{n})} q^{\frac{n}{8\pi g}Q^{2}} e^{i\mu Q},$$
(56a)

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{NN}(\mu) = \frac{1}{Z_{NN}^{n}} \sum_{Q \in \sigma_{NN}} \frac{1}{\eta(q^{n})} q^{\frac{n}{8\pi g}Q^{2}} e^{i\mu Q}.$$
 (56b)

We note that similar expressions were already presented in [20], albeit restricted to only two values of $\Delta \varphi_0$ and $\Delta \theta_0$. Here, we generalize to all possible values of $\Delta \varphi_0$ and $\Delta \theta_0$.

To calculate the $Z_n(Q)$, the charged moments have to be Fourier transformed. In the compact case a subtlety arises, since the values of Q are neither integer nor continuous for finite, non-zero compactification radius. By standard Fourier theory this leads to all functions of μ being periodic with period $2\pi R$ and $\frac{4\pi}{R}$, respectively. By rescaling the integration variable and substitution in the Fourier transformation, the new function can be made to be 2π periodic. For both boundary conditions,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{\alpha\alpha}(Q) = \frac{1}{Z_{\alpha\alpha}^{n}} \frac{q^{n} \frac{Q^{2}}{8\pi g}}{\eta(q^{n})}, \quad Q \in \sigma_{\alpha\alpha}.$$
(57)

This result agrees with our previous result in (42).

The difference between DD and NN boundary conditions again is that the charges in the spectrum take different values depending on the compactification radius *R*.

4.1.2 Cross-check: Non-compact Boson

A cross-check similar to the one discussed in the previous subsection can be done for the noncompact boson theory. In this case the boundary states (A.1) are replaced by

$$||N\rangle\rangle_{\infty} = g_{N,\infty}|0\rangle\rangle, \qquad (58a)$$

$$||D(\varphi_0)\rangle\rangle_{\infty} = g_{D,\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dQ e^{-iQ\varphi_0} |Q\rangle\rangle.$$
(58b)

Here $|Q\rangle\rangle$ are the Ishibashi states, given in (A.2) of appendix A.1, and φ_0 remains the boundary value of the field φ . Note that only a single Ishibashi state contributes in the NN case, c.f. section 3.1. The g-factors are now

$$g_{D,\infty} = \langle 0 || D(\varphi_0) \rangle \rangle_{\infty} = (4\pi g)^{-\frac{1}{4}},$$
 (59)

$$g_{N,\infty} = \langle 0 \| N \rangle \rangle_{\infty} = (4\pi g)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
(60)

In the case of NN boundary conditions,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{NN}(\mu) = \mathsf{g}_{N,\infty}^{2} \frac{\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}2\pi g\left(\frac{\mu}{2\pi}\right)^{2}}}{Z_{NN}^{n}\eta(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}})} = \frac{\mathsf{g}_{N,\infty}^{2}}{Z_{NN}^{n}} \chi_{0}\left(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}}, -\frac{\mu}{n\tau}, -\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\mu}{2\pi}\right)^{2}\right).$$
(61)

This result is exact to all orders of ϵ . In the *S*-dual picture, i.e. in the \tilde{q} expression, only one of the bulk modes is allowed to propagate for NN boundary conditions. Since the *S* transformation acts as a Fourier transform, we expect that all BCFT modes are allowed to propagate, which can be seen from the fact that the matrix elements $S_{0,Q'} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi g}}$ are independent of Q'. Therefore all U(1) representations contribute equally in the partition function and the charged moments and the expression in terms of q reads

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{NN}(\mu) = \frac{1}{Z_{NN}^{n}} \int dQ \chi_{Q}(q^{n}, \mu, 0), \qquad (62)$$

where $\chi_Q(q^n, \mu, 0)$ is defined in (53). Furthermore we see from (61) that the leading order in \tilde{q} produces the charged moments computed in the twist field picture and the holographic calculation [63],

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{NN}(\mu) \sim g_{N,\infty}^{2(1-n)} \tilde{q}^{\frac{2\pi g}{n} \left(\frac{\mu}{2\pi}\right)^{2} + \frac{1}{24}(n-\frac{1}{n})}.$$
(63)

Sci Post

Fourier transforming the exact result (61), we obtain for $Q \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{NN}(Q) = \frac{1}{Z_{NN}^{n}} \frac{q^{n} \frac{Q^{2}}{8\pi g}}{\eta(q^{n})} = \frac{1}{Z_{NN}^{n}} \chi_{Q}(q^{n}, 0, 0).$$
(64)

This result is consistent with (42). Observe that the boundary states automatically contain the information about which charges enter the spectrum, c.f. the discussion in section 3.1. In the case of DD boundary conditions the analysis of the boundary states yields the charged moments

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{DD}(\mu) = \frac{\mathsf{g}_{D,\infty}^{2}}{Z_{DD}^{n}} \tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}2\pi g \left(\frac{\mu}{2\pi}\right)^{2}} \int \mathrm{d}Q e^{-iQ\Delta\varphi_{0}} e^{-i\frac{\mu}{n\tau}Q} \frac{\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}\frac{Q^{2}}{8\pi g}}}{\eta(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}})}.$$
(65)

In contrast to the NN case all bulk modes propagate in the \tilde{q} expression. In the BCFT picture, the charged moments read

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{DD}(\mu) = \frac{1}{Z_{DD}^{n}} \frac{1}{\eta(q^{n})} e^{i\mu 2g\Delta\varphi_{0}} q^{n2\pi g \left(\frac{\Delta\varphi_{0}}{2\pi}\right)^{2}} = \frac{1}{Z_{DD}^{n}} \chi_{2g\Delta\varphi_{0}}(q^{n},\mu,0).$$
(66)

Instead of consisting of a single bulk mode in \tilde{q} expression, the charged moments consist of a single mode in the *q* expression, again c.f. section 3.1.

Fourier transforming the charged moments gives

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{DD}(Q) = \frac{1}{Z_{DD}^{n}} \frac{q^{n} \frac{Q^{2}}{8\pi g}}{\eta(q^{n})} \delta\left(Q - 2g\Delta\varphi_{0}\right).$$
(67)

This is again consistent with (42). The Dirac distribution appearing in this result corroborates that the spectrum of the free boson with DD boundary conditions consists of only one $\hat{u}(1)$ representation.

We find it worth stressing again that (67), (64) and (57) confirm the discussion reported in section 4.1, where we pointed out that the charged partition functions $\mathcal{Z}(Q)$ have the same expression in all the U(1) and \mathbb{R} cases. Different boundary conditions and considering the compact or the non-compact abelian symmetry group only determine which charges enter in the spectrum.

4.2 \mathbb{Z}_2 Symmetry Resolution

We now turn our attention to resolution with respect to the simplest finite discrete group, namely \mathbb{Z}_2 . The DD, NN and ND partition functions carry \mathbb{Z}_2 representations so that their entanglement structure can be unveiled. The reader will not be surprised to find that there is a close relationship with the conventional \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of the bosonic theory [80]. For all the boundary conditions considered here we compute the charged partition function (10) directly from the knowledge of the projectors in the two charge sectors. This is in the spirit of section 4.1. As a consequence, we do not compute and exploit the charged moments as in (14) and (15) with N = 2.

4.2.1 \mathbb{Z}_2 Symmetry Resolution for DD and NN

While treating the DD and NN cases, we restrict to the simple cases $\Delta \varphi_0 = 0 = \Delta \theta_0$. It is then also useful to introduce a common notation for the primaries in both boundary theories, we call them $|s\rangle$, $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $a_0 |s\rangle = Q_s |s\rangle$, where Q_s stands for either $Q_w^{(0)}$ from (34) or $Q_m^{(0)}$ from (32).

Denoting $\mathbb{Z}_2 = \{e, g\}$, where *e* is the unit element, the non-trivial element *g* acts on the Fock modes via $g^{-1}a_kg = -a_k$. For k = 0 this implies the \mathbb{Z}_2 action flips the sign of the *U*(1) charge, $Q_s \to -Q_s$, and so we can identify $g |s\rangle = |-s\rangle$.

A projector onto $g = \pm 1$ eigenspaces, required for (10), is $\Pi_{\pm} = \frac{e \pm g}{2}$. We are thus led to evaluate traces of the type $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{\alpha\alpha}}[gq^{L_0}]$, where $\mathcal{H}_{\alpha\alpha}$ is the Hilbert space of either the DD or NN theory. For their evaluation it is convenient to reorganize the spectrum in states of the form

$$a_{k_1}a_{k_2}\dots a_{k_l}(|s\rangle \pm |-s\rangle), \tag{68}$$

which are eigenstates of g. For a fixed configuration of modes a_j , these pairs of states contribute with opposite sign to $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{aa}}[gq^{L_0}]$ and thus cancel away, as long as $s \neq 0$. This rearrangement of the Hilbert space has the following physical meaning. Each of the U(1) sectors of the theory discussed in section 4.1 contains a \mathbb{Z}_2 -even and a \mathbb{Z}_2 -odd part. Thus, in order to access the two \mathbb{Z}_2 sectors it is necessary to decompose the U(1) sectors and reorganize them, as done by the change of basis (68).

What remains is to evaluate the trace in the s = 0 sector, which is done by elementary methods [80],

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{\alpha\alpha}}\left[gq^{L_0-\frac{1}{24}}\right] = \operatorname{Tr}_{s=0}\left[gq^{L_0-\frac{1}{24}}\right] = q^{-\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{k=1} \frac{1}{1+q^k} = \sqrt{2\frac{\eta(q)}{\theta_2(q)}} = \sqrt{2\frac{\eta(\tilde{q})}{\theta_4(\tilde{q})}}, \quad (69)$$

where θ_i are modular Jacobi theta functions. A summary of their properties can be found in appendix **C**.

The trace (10) for the two possible \mathbb{Z}_2 representations, labelled \pm , can thus be evaluated

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}_{n}^{\alpha a}(\pm) &= \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{\alpha a}}[\Pi_{\pm}\rho_{A}^{n}] \\ &= \frac{1}{(Z_{\alpha a}(q))^{n}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{\alpha a}}\left[\frac{e \pm g}{2}q^{n(L_{0}-\frac{1}{24})}\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{2(Z_{\alpha a}(q))^{n}} \left(Z_{\alpha a}(q^{n}) \pm \sqrt{2\frac{\eta(\tilde{q}^{1/n})}{\theta_{4}(\tilde{q}^{1/n})}}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2(Z_{\alpha a}(q))^{n}} \left(g_{a}^{2}\frac{e^{2W/(24n)}}{\prod_{k=1}^{\infty}(1-e^{-2Wk/n})}\sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}}e^{-2Wh_{s}/n} \\ &\pm \sqrt{2}\frac{e^{-W/(24n)}}{\prod_{k=1}^{\infty}(1-e^{-W(2k-1)/n})}\right), \end{aligned}$$
(70)

with $h_s = Q_s^2/(8\pi g)$. When $W \to \infty$, the first summand goes with $e^{\frac{W}{12\pi}}$, while the second term decays rapidly with $e^{-\frac{W}{24\pi}}$. Without computing the symmetry-resolved entanglement form these replica partition functions, we can thus already infer that equipartition holds at leading order, thereby confirming the results of [32]. When including all orders, however, it is clear that equipartition cannot hold, since (70) depends on the chosen sign. Observe that $\mathcal{Z}_1(+)$ is proportional to the holomorphic part of the projected untwisted sector of the conventional \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold [80].

Finally, the symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies are

$$S_n^{\alpha\alpha}(\pm) = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{\mathcal{Z}_n^{\alpha\alpha}(\pm)}{\left(\mathcal{Z}_1^{\alpha\alpha}(\pm) \right)^n} \right].$$
(71)

When either $\Delta \varphi_0 = 0$ or $\Delta \theta_0 = 0$, we can expand (71) as

$$S_n^{\alpha\alpha}(\pm) = \frac{1+n}{12n} W - \ln 2 + \ln g_{\alpha}^2 + \dots,$$
(72)

where the dots denote the subleading corrections which vanish exponentially in W as the UV cutoff goes to zero, and are responsible for the breaking of the entanglement equipartition. The term $\ln 2$ is nothing but the logarithm of the number of \mathbb{Z}_2 sectors, and is the leading contribution to the fluctuation entropy. In other words, no double logarithmic corrections arise in the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry-resolution of the entanglement [32].

4.2.2 \mathbb{Z}_2 Symmetry Resolution for DN

It is convenient rewrite the ND BCFT partition function (35) as

$$Z_{ND}(q) = \sqrt{\frac{\eta(q)}{\theta_4(q)}},$$
(73)

which makes evident that this spectrum is equivalent to the holomorphic part of the unprojected twisted sector of the bosonic \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold found in [80]. It carries \mathbb{Z}_2 representations with respect to which we wish to resolve. To that end, it is convenient to split (36) into $g = \pm 1$ eigenspaces,

$$\mathcal{H}_{DN}^{(+)} = \{ a_{-r_1} \dots a_{-r_{2k}} | \sigma \rangle \}, \tag{74}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{DN}^{(-)} = \{ a_{-r_1} \dots a_{-r_{2k+1}} | \sigma \rangle \}, \tag{75}$$

with $r_i \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}$.

The projector onto these eigenspaces is still $\Pi_{\pm} = \frac{e+g}{2}$, and we consider

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{DN}}[gq^{L_0-\frac{1}{24}}] = \sqrt{\frac{\eta(\tilde{q})}{\theta_3(\tilde{q})}},$$
(76)

whose derivation can be found in [80]. The replica partition function (10) is thus

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}_{n}^{DN}(\pm) &= \frac{1}{2(Z_{DN}(q))^{n}} \left(\sqrt{\frac{\eta(q^{n})}{\theta_{4}(q^{n})}} \pm \sqrt{\frac{\eta(q^{n})}{\theta_{3}(q^{n})}} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2(Z_{DN}(q))^{n}} \left(\sqrt{\frac{\eta(\tilde{q}^{1/n})}{\theta_{2}(\tilde{q}^{1/n})}} \pm \sqrt{\frac{\eta(\tilde{q}^{1/n})}{\theta_{3}(\tilde{q}^{1/n})}} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2(Z_{DN}(q))^{n}} \left(g_{N} g_{D} e^{W/(12n)} \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-2Wk/n})^{-1} \pm \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 + e^{-W(2k-1)/n})^{-1} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(77)

where we used $g_D g_N = 1/\sqrt{2}$, see (A.3). Again it is clear that for $W \to \infty$, the first term dominates and hence equipartition is guaranteed at leading order. Similar to before, equipartition breaks down once all orders are included. Observe that $\mathcal{Z}_1(+)$ is proportional to the holomorphic part of the projected twisted sector of the conventional \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold [80].

Finally, the symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies are

$$S_{n}^{ND}(\pm) = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{Z_{n}^{DN}(\pm)}{\left(Z_{1}^{DN}(\pm) \right)^{n}} \right].$$
 (78)

For the leading orders one finds

$$S_n^{ND}(\pm) = \frac{1+n}{12n} W - \ln 2 + \ln(g_D g_N) + \dots,$$
(79)

where the dots have the same meaning, and the $\ln 2$ the same interpretation discussed below (72).

5 Conclusions

5.1 Discussion

In this article we investigated the symmetry resolution of entanglement in 2D CFTs by employing the BCFT approach for the computation of the entanglement entropies [12, 13]. More concretely, any factorization of Hilbert space associated with spatial domains requires the imposition of boundary conditions at the entangling surface in a QFT, see (16). These boundary conditions determine the field content in the entanglement spectrum. If, furthermore, the system is governed by a symmetry group *G*, said entanglement spectrum decomposes into charge sectors labelled by irreducible representations of *G*. In this paper we showed that symmetry resolution with respect to $G = U(1), \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}_2$ is achieved in the free boson CFT by extracting the characters of said irreducible representations, c.f. (10) and (42), and by computing their entanglement entropy (11). We found that this approach has a number of advantages:

- It bypasses the potentially laborious computation of charged moments (13). While in the case of *U*(1), calculating the charged moments directly does not pose any great obstacle, it will demand involved techniques for non-abelian groups. See for instance the case of Lie groups [22], for which we sketch below how to apply our method. While still tractable in the case of Lie groups, it is currently unknown how to compute charged moments for other non-abelian groups. One example is the Virasoro group, where it is unclear how a charged moment should be computed. In particular, there is no twist field prescription similar to the one in [19]. However, our method proves to not only extract the symmetry-resolved entropies, but also does it very efficiently [83]. We emphasize that our method is to be viewed as complementary to the charged moments, as examples exist where our method is difficult to implement, yet the charged moments are easily accessible. This is for instance the case in bottom-up holographic constructions [63,64].
- In contrast to the charged twist field approach [19], which only provides the leading contributions in a UV cutoff expansion, the setup here provides symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies to all orders in the UV cutoff. This is similar to the situation with regular twist fields, which provide the cW/6 term in the entanglement entropy, but not the higher lying terms described in [12].
- It provides conceptual insight. For instance, it explains the origin of equipartition of entanglement, if present. This is a simple consequence of the structure of the characters of the symmetry group. Equipartition has been studied in the case of U(1) before in [20] and for \mathbb{Z}_2 in [32]. In both cases equipartition had been established to leading orders in the UV cutoff. Our setup allows us to extend their analysis to all orders and confirm U(1) equipartition (43), while we find breaking of \mathbb{Z}_2 equipartition, c.f. (70) and (77). While the equipartition of symmetry-resolved entropies at leading orders is a universal feature, the equipartition to all orders in the cutoff expansion pointed out in this work is a direct consequence of the regularization chosen, as encoded in the boundary conditions. We stress that in the present manuscript we have mostly considered NN and DD boundary conditions, which are the ones preserving the maximal amount of symmetries (see appendix A.2). It would be interesting to compare the non-universal corrections associated to this choice of boundary conditions with the ones arising from the lattice regularization in critical models with the free boson CFT as continuum description. Particularly promising boundary conditions towards this goal are the NN ones, which have been found to reproduce the low-lying part of the entanglement spectrum of blocks of consecutive oscillators in infinite harmonic chains [84,85].

We find it worth stressing that to obtain the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies to all orders in the cutoff expansion it is necessary to know the boundary states exactly. This fact is true also for the total entanglement entropies, as highlighted in [12], and therefore is inherited for the case of symmetry resolution. On the other hand, the leading behaviour in the cutoff expansion is provided by the lowest-lying state of the BCFT conformal spectrum and does not depend on the chosen boundary conditions [12, 13]. This statement is valid both for the total entanglement entropies, allowing us to retrieve the known logarithmic scaling, and for the symmetry-resolved entropies, in the latter case giving rise to the equipartition behavior to leading order [20].

Another aspect we find worth stressing is the role of boundary conditions imposed on the annulus geometry. Typically, the boundary conditions considered in BCFT are conformal boundary conditions, which deny energy-momentum flow across the boundary. From the point of view of symmetries, this means that the holomorphic and the anti-holomorphic Virasoro algebrae reduce to a single Virasoro algebra. If the theory has an additional global symmetry, the boundary conditions may break this symmetry. If we want to compute the symmetryresolved entanglement with respect to a given group G, we must choose boundary conditions that preserve such a group. In the cases considered in this article, we observed that NN and DD boundary conditions preserve one of the two U(1) (or \mathbb{R}) symmetries of the theory without boundaries. The U(1) preserved in the NN case is different from the one preserved in the DD case, c.f. appendix A.2 for more details. In both cases, a symmetry resolution of the entanglement entropies can be achieved in the BCFT setup. On the other hand, when we impose ND or DN boundary conditions, the only residual symmetry is \mathbb{Z}_2 and therefore it is not possible to resolve the spectrum of the BCFT, i.e. the entanglement spectrum, with respect to U(1) (or \mathbb{R}). In this latter case, the partition function of the BCFT is expanded in terms of the characters of twisted U(1) representations [78, 79]. Thus, even if there is no U(1) charge present for ND or DN boundary conditions, the theory bears remnants of the $U(1) \times U(1)$ symmetry present without boundaries, i.e. before the mapping the theory to the annulus.

We point out that our results, much as all other results on U(1) symmetry resolution of the free boson in the literature, apply to fermionic models with quartic interactions by virtue of bosonization. Since our approach is based on the powerful tools of representation theory, we believe however that it provides significant leverage over conventional tools when considering more general interacting models. For instance, Virasoro minimal models lend themselves naturally to our method and will be discussed in an upcoming article [83]. A further advantage of explicit use of conformal boundary conditions is that they capture the low-lying entanglement spectrum of gapped phases adjacent to a quantum critical point [86]. This adds further weight to the BCFT approach advanced in the present work.

5.2 Summary of Results

We have focused on the cases where the target space of the bosonic field is a circle (symmetry group U(1)) or non-compact (symmetry group \mathbb{R}). In both cases, we computed the charged partition function $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)$ from the characters contained in the BCFT partition function, c.f. (42) for generic n and in (41) for n = 1. The corresponding symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies are given in (43). We applied the same procedure for the resolution with respect to the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. For this case, the charged partition functions are given in (70) for NN or DD boundary conditions, and in (77) for ND boundaries. The corresponding symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies are straightforwardly computed using these results. We now provide a detailed discussion of each of these results.

Our first example is the compact boson resolved with respect to the global U(1) symmetry. The symmetry-resolved entropies for this theory have been first considered in [20], where the leading order contributions in the UV cutoff expansion were computed and found to be independent of the choice of boundary conditions on the annulus. We extend the analysis of [20] by calculating all the possible higher-order terms for all allowed combinations of boundary conditions. We in particular considered two choices of boundary conditions, DD and NN, both of which allowing for a residual U(1) symmetry. Our results (43) exhibit some very interesting features: First, the equipartition of entanglement holds to all orders in the cutoff expansion. This is an extension of the results in [20], which reported equipartition to leading order. Our result originates from the explicit form of the U(1) characters $\chi_Q(q) = q^{h_Q}/\eta(q)$. This particular form implies that h_Q cancels out in the ratio $\mathcal{Z}_n(Q)/(\mathcal{Z}_1(Q))^n$, so that no charge dependence remains, as is seen in (41) and (42). This is the first main result of the paper. Moreover, the explicit expressions of the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies are the same for both the NN and DD case. The only difference lies in the allowed values of the charges Q, which are determined by the choice of the boundary conditions.

As a further example, we considered the decompactification regime of the compact free boson theory, namely the limit $R \to \infty$. The resulting theory has a symmetry given by the group \mathbb{R} . Thus, its symmetry resolution can be regarded as a first simple example of symmetryresolved entanglement in presence of a non-compact symmetry group. Also in this case the expression for the symmetry-resolved entropies (43) only depends on the charge allowed by the boundary conditions. We find it worthwhile to stress an interesting feature of the noncompact boson with DD boundary conditions: its spectrum consists only of a single charge sector and therefore the only non-vanishing symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies coincide with the total entanglement entropies. This is somewhat surprising, since it shows that the double logarithmic correction in the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies is also present in the full entanglement entropies, which, to our knowledge, has not been reported so far.

The BCFT approach also allowed us to compute the entanglement entropies resolved with respect to a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. These results are reported in (71) for NN and DD boundary conditions. Interestingly, in presence of DN and ND boundary conditions the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is still present and therefore the symmetry-resolved entropies can be computed. They are given in (78). Again, these results are exact in the cutoff expansion, and reduce to the findings of [32] to leading order in the cutoff expansion. Our results for U(1) and \mathbb{R} have been cross-checked in sections 4.1.1 and 4.1.2 by computing first the charged moments and then performing the Fourier transform.

5.3 Outlook

Based on the findings of our work, there are many future directions to pursue: First, we have come across twisted U(1) representations in the case of mixed boundary conditions. These arise from a twisted U(1) and retain some of the features of the untwisted case. For instance, the structure of the $\hat{u}(1)$ Kac-Moody algebra persists, in that the modes still satisfy $[a_r, a_s] = -r\delta_{r+s,0}$ where the indices are half-integral. In the picture put forward in section 4, symmetry-resolution is achieved by isolating a character. We can therefore resolve with respect to these characters, i.e. with respect to the twisted U(1) symmetry. Nevertheless it is not clear what the physical charge operator is for this representation. In particular, as shown in appendix A.2, Noether's procedure does not provide a conserved charge operator in this case. The identification of such charges is therefore an interesting route to take. This question is by no means of pure mathematical nature, as physical systems have already been identified which feature ND boundaries at their entangling points, see [84]. We point out that for ND/DN boundaries, the entanglement spectrum consists of only a single twisted character. In this regard, the ND case is very similar to the case of DD boundaries for the non-compact boson.

Second, our construction of section 4 can naturally be extended to non-abelian cases, which provide an example of more involved global symmetries. Take for instance the Wess-Zumino-

Sci Post

Witten (WZW) model $\hat{\mathfrak{su}}(2)_1$. If we consider this model in the geometry of an annulus, as explained in detail in [78, 87], the boundary conditions can be represented by the boundary states $||j\rangle\rangle$, which are labelled by a spin quantum number j = 0, 1/2. If we want to resolve with respect to $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ representations of spin J (of the finite-dimensional Lie group, not its affine extension) we should decompose the spectra of the BCFT with respect to such representations. For instance, the spectrum of a BCFT with boundary conditions given by j = 0 decomposes as $\mathcal{H}_{00}^{\hat{\mathfrak{su}}(2)_1} = \bigoplus_{I \in \mathbb{N}_0} V^{(I)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_I^{Vir}$, where V^I is a spin-I representation of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and \mathcal{H}_I^{Vir} is a Virasoro representation of pertaining to a Virasoro primary field of weight $h = I^2/4$ [78,87]. This lends itself to the computation of the charge-projected partition functions for spin-J representations

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n}^{00}(J) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{00}}[\Pi_{J}\rho_{A}^{n}] = \frac{1}{Z_{00}^{n}}\operatorname{Tr}_{V^{(J)}}[\mathbf{1}]\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{J}^{Vir}}[q^{n(L_{0}-1/24)}] = \frac{\operatorname{dim}(V^{(J)})}{(Z_{00}(q))^{n}}\chi_{J}^{Vir}(q^{n}),$$
(80)

if J is even and zero otherwise. This expression can now be used to derive a SRRE,

$$S_n^{00}(J) = \log[2J+1] + \frac{1}{1-n} \log\left[\frac{\chi_J^{Vir}(q^n)}{(\chi_J^{Vir}(q))^n}\right].$$
(81)

Of course, leading orders in the cutoff expansion are only extracted after a modular Stransformation, but, as first observed in [22], we can already notice a term of order one, whose *J*-dependence breaks the equipartition. The general structure of integrable modules of affine Lie algebras suggest that (81) emerges for general WZW models, but the explicit form of the Virasoro characters $\chi_J^{Vir}(q)$ depends on the theory under consideration. We leave a more detailed analysis involving the choice of specific theories and higher rank symmetry groups for future investigations. In fact, the treatment of Virasoro representations and conformal symmetry have recently been discussed in-depth in [83]. Given a WZW model with global symmetry *G*, our approach also makes evident how to resolve with respect even to subgroups of $H \subset G$. What is required is to decompose representations of *G* into those of *H*. Going one step further using character decompositions, it will even be possible to resolve coset models, for which no results exist at present. Such coset models appear in higher spin holography [65, 88, 89], as well as in exactly solvable top-down models of AdS_3/CFT_2 [90]. Therefore our approach applies to a large number of CFTs, and does so to all orders in the UV cutoff.

Third, One of the abelian symmetry groups considered in this work is the group \mathbb{R} , which is non-compact. The results discussed in Sec. 4 provide a first entanglement resolution with respect to a non-compact, albeit simple, symmetry. Along this line, it would be interesting to consider the resolution of entanglement in presence of non-abelian, non-compact groups. A promising candidate for this purpose is $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$, whose irreducible representations, crucial for applying the BCFT approach, are known [91].

Fourth, in the present manuscript, we consider the bipartition of an infinite line into an interval and its complement. The subsystem can be changed by modifying the function *W* corresponding to the width of the annulus. Following [12, 13], our results can be extended to a finite interval either in a finite system in its ground state or in an infinite system at finite temperature and to an interval at the end of a semi-infinite system in its ground state. Also the temporal evolution of the entanglement of a semi-infinite subsystem after global or local quenches can be investigated through this technology [13]. However, the case of a subsystem given by multiple disjoint intervals cannot be treated within this approach since, after the regularization, the spacetime cannot be mapped to an annulus. Indeed, the resulting geometry would have as many boundaries as the number of endpoints. Generalizing this method for computing entanglement and its symmetry resolution to such geometries is a task that deserves future investigations.

Fifth, the free fermion CFT is a natural candidate for the application of our approach. The additional lessons to be learned here come from the spin structure, i.e. anti-periodic and periodic boundary conditions which are to be imposed on top of Neumann and Dirichlet conditions. In [36] it has been observed that the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropies depend on the chosen spin sector. Moreover, this dependence induces subleading corrections breaking the equipartition. It would be then interesting to understand more about the interplay between the spin sectors and the boundary conditions to be imposed on the annulus geometry in the BCFT approach. Moving further this may allow to resolve supersymmetric models.

Sixth, entanglement is of major importance, via the AdS/CFT correspondence, for the understanding of space-time itself [92, 93]. First results on the symmetry resolution of entanglement in holography already exist [62–66, 94]. All these works are based on the bottom-up approach to holography. In contrast, given a top-down model for which the D brane states are known, it will be possible by using our method to resolve these theories with respect to their symmetry algebra, to all orders in the UV cutoff, and also in the bulk Newton constant. Importantly, such studies might provide a geometric interpretation of the non-leading order terms in the UV cutoff and the bulk Newton constant. The leading order of the entanglement entropy "builds spacetime" [93], and the higher orders add quantum effects to the classical spacetime geometry [95, 96]. A possible starting point would be to compare our results for the free boson with the bulk entanglement calculation of [97].

Finally, analyses relating the entanglement properties of quantum chains in the continuum limit to boundary conditions of BCFT models have been performed for the harmonic chain [84], for the Ising chain, and also out-of-equilibrium [11, 98]. It is interesting to apply our method in these cases since they allow direct comparison with simulations. Such an investigation can potentially allow to separate all lattice contributions from those of the CFT, providing an estimate for how many orders in UV cutoff of the CFT result should be trusted in practical applications.

Acknowledgements

We thank Filiberto Ares, Johanna Erdmenger, Marius Gerbershagen, Sara Murciano, Ronny Thomale, and Konstantin Weisenberger for useful discussions.

Funding information The work of all authors was funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) through Project-ID 258499086—SFB 1170 "ToCoTronics" and through the Würzburg-Dresden Cluster of Excellence on Complexity and Topology in Quantum Matter - ct.qmat Project-ID 390858490—EXC 2147. S.Z. acknowledges financial support by the China Scholarship Council. The work of Giuseppe Di Giulio, René Meyer and Christian Northe is supported by the Israel Science Foundation (grant No. 1417/21) and by the German Research Foundation through a German-Israeli Project Cooperation (DIP) grant "Holography and the Swampland".

A A Review on Boundaries in the Free Boson

In this appendix we provide supplementary material on boundary conditions in the free boson. First, we discuss boundary states of the free boson and thereafter we take a look at the breaking of U(1) symmetry by boundaries.

A.1 Free Boson Boundary States

Each boundary condition is encoded in a boundary state

$$||N(\theta_0)\rangle\rangle = \sqrt{\sqrt{\pi g}R} \sum_{w \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{2\pi i g R w \theta_0} |(0, w)\rangle\rangle_N, \qquad (A.1a)$$

$$\|D(\varphi_0)\rangle\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sqrt{4\pi gR}}} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{i\frac{m}{R}\varphi_0} |(m,0)\rangle\rangle_D, \qquad (A.1b)$$

with Ishibashi states built on top of the bulk primaries (27),

$$N: |(0,w)\rangle\rangle_{N} = \exp\left(-\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} a_{-n} \bar{a}_{-n}\right) |(0,w)\rangle , \qquad (A.2a)$$

$$D: |(m,0)\rangle\rangle_{D} = \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} a_{-n} \bar{a}_{-n}\right) |(m,0)\rangle .$$
 (A.2b)

The entropy of the boundary fields is given by Affleck-Ludwig g-factors [99], which in the model at hand are given by

$$g_N = \langle 0 || N(\theta_0) \rangle = \sqrt{R \sqrt{\pi g}},$$
 (A.3a)

$$g_D = \langle 0 || D(\phi_0) \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{R\sqrt{4\pi g}}}.$$
 (A.3b)

Note that the g-factors are independent of the parameters φ_0, θ_0 .

It is important to stress that the modes which appear in the boundary states are not the eigenstates of the entanglement Hamiltonian. They are degrees of freedom present in the theory before imposing boundaries. Thus they are called bulk modes and in fact they transform under two copies of the Virasoro algebra. The eigenstates of the entanglement Hamiltonian on the other hand, which we refer to as boundary fields, transform only under a single copy of the Virasoro algebra. They are the fields living at the boundary, i.e. the excised disks, and the protagonists of the BCFT. The boundary fields and bulk fields are related to each other via an *S*-dual transformation. Hence the bulk modes provide a useful means of computing the spectrum of boundary fields.

A.2 U(1) Symmetry Breaking by ND and DN Boundaries

In this appendix we explain how boundaries affect the $U(1) \times U(1)$ symmetry of the bosonic CFT. We show how NN and DD boundaries select a particular embedding of a conserved U(1) generator into the original symmetry and move on to show how mixed boundaries deny the presence of such an operator.

A free massless bosonic field on a two-dimensional Euclidean manifold possesses two conserved currents and their respective charges. The first is the Noether current and the second a topological current

$$j^{\mu} = \partial^{\mu} \varphi, \qquad j^{\mu}_{\rm top} = \epsilon^{\mu\nu} j_{\nu}. \tag{A.4}$$

The Noether current is divergence free, $\partial_{\mu} j^{\mu} = 0$ by virtue of the equations of motion while the topological current is divergence free by construction, $\partial_{\mu} j^{\mu}_{top} = 0$. Furthermore, they induce two natural charge operators

$$Q = \int j^{\tau} d\sigma, \qquad Q_{\rm top} = \int j_{\rm top}^{\tau} d\sigma, \qquad (A.5)$$

where the spatial coordinate σ is integrated over its full domain. Equations (A.4) are local conservation relations. Global properties are investigated by integrating their respective divergences on a spatial domain. For the Noether current this results in

$$0 = \int \partial_{\mu} j^{\mu} d\sigma = \partial_{\tau} \mathcal{Q} + j_{\sigma} \big|_{bdy} = \partial_{\tau} \mathcal{Q} + \partial_{\sigma} \varphi \big|_{bdy}.$$
(A.6)

On a manifold without boundary, the second term on the right hand side can be neglected and as a result Q is conserved. On a manifold with boundary, however, Q is only conserved in presence of Neumann boundary conditions (28). Taking the solution of the equations of motion for the bosonic angular variable on a strip geometry⁴ with $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma \in [0, \pi]$ and Neumann boundaries at $\sigma = 0, \pi$,

$$\varphi_{NN}(\tau,\sigma) = \varphi_0 - i \frac{\tau}{\sqrt{\pi g}} a_0 + \frac{i}{\sqrt{\pi g}} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{1}{k} a_k e^{-k\tau} \cos(k\sigma), \qquad \partial_\sigma \varphi_{NN} \Big|_{\sigma=0,\pi} = 0, \quad (A.7)$$

it may easily be verified from (A.5) that $Q \propto a_0$.

Similarly, noting that $\partial_{\mu} j_{top}^{\mu} = 0$ implies $\partial_{\tau} j_{\sigma} = \partial_{\sigma} j_{\tau}$, the temporal derivate of the topological charge can be evaluated,

$$\partial_{\tau} \mathcal{Q}_{\text{top}} = \int \partial_{\tau} j_{\text{top}}^{\tau} d\sigma = \int \partial_{\tau} j^{\sigma} d\sigma = j^{\tau} \big|_{bdy} = \partial_{\tau} \varphi \big|_{bdy}.$$
(A.8)

On a manifold without boundary, the right hand side can be neglected and as a result Q_{top} is conserved. On a manifold with boundary, however, Q_{top} is only conserved in presence of Dirichlet boundary conditions (29). Taking the solution of the equations of motion for the bosonic angular variable on a strip geometry with Dirichlet boundaries at $\sigma = 0, \pi$,

$$\varphi_{DD}(\tau,\sigma) = \varphi_0 + \frac{\sigma}{\sqrt{\pi g}} a_0 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi g}} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{1}{k} a_k e^{-k\tau} \sin(k\sigma), \qquad (A.9)$$

it may easily be verified from (A.5) that $Q_{top} \propto a_0$.

On a manifold without boundary the charges Q and Q_{top} generate the $U(1) \times U(1)$ symmetry of the free boson theory. When imposing a boundary, the symmetry is broken down. In principle, all symmetry can be broken by a boundary. Special classes of U(1) symmetry-preserving boundaries can be chosen, such as Neumann and Dirichlet boundary conditions. These boundaries embed a new U(1) symmetry into $U(1) \times U(1)$. The generator of the embedded U(1) is a superposition of the $U(1) \times U(1)$ charges,

$$Q_{\rm bdy} = aQ + bQ_{\rm top}, \qquad (A.10)$$

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ and never vanish simultaneously. Taking a temporal derivative,

$$\partial_{\tau} \mathcal{Q}_{bdy} = -a \,\partial_{\sigma} \varphi \big|_{bdy} + b \,\partial_{\tau} \varphi \big|_{bdy} = -a \,\partial_{\sigma} \varphi \big|_{\sigma=0}^{\sigma=\pi} + b \,\partial_{\tau} \varphi \big|_{\sigma=0}^{\sigma=\pi}, \tag{A.11}$$

reveals how distinct boundary conditions embed a U(1) symmetry into $U(1) \times U(1)$. This used (A.6) and (A.8) and in going to the last expression we have chosen the manifold to be a strip. Clearly, for (a = 1, b = 0) conservation of Q_{bdy} requires Neumann boundaries, while (a = 0, b = 1) selects Dirichlet conditions.

⁴Note that the arguments presented in this appendix are independent of the choice of manifold and demonstrate how boundaries affect the U(1) symmetry of a theory. In particular, our discussion also applies to the annulus, which is used throughout the main text. Here we choose the strip since it allows for simple illustration of the charges via the bosonic solutions (A.7), (A.9), (A.13) and (A.14).

Turning to mixed boundaries, we choose to have a Neumann condition at $\sigma = \pi$ and a Dirichlet condition at $\sigma = 0$. This yields

$$\partial_{\tau} \mathcal{Q}_{\text{bdy}} = a \,\partial_{\sigma} \varphi(\sigma = 0) + b \,\partial_{\tau} \varphi(\sigma = \pi). \tag{A.12}$$

No parameters a, b can be chosen to have this expression vanish. Hence no conserved U(1) charge can be embedded into the original $U(1) \times U(1)$ symmetry. This may be checked explicitly using the solution for the free boson,

$$\varphi_{DN}(\tau,\sigma) = \varphi_0 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi g}} \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{r} a_r e^{-r\tau} \sin(r\sigma).$$
(A.13)

The same conclusion is obtained for the reversed case of a Neumann condition at $\sigma = 0$ and a Dirichlet condition at $\sigma = \pi$. Here the bosonic solution is

$$\varphi_{ND}(\tau,\sigma) = \varphi_0 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi g}} \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{r} a_r e^{-r\tau} \cos(r\sigma).$$
(A.14)

Observe that the mode a_0 does not even act on $\mathcal{H}_{ND/DN}$. It has been twisted, $a_0 \rightarrow a_{\frac{1}{2}}$. Furthermore, $[L_0, a_{\frac{1}{2}}] = -\frac{1}{2}a_{\frac{1}{2}} \neq 0$, and thus this mode is no symmetry generator!

An algebraic, fully general, complementary argument for the breaking of the U(1) symmetry uses the fact that the gluing automorphisms for Neumann, $J = \overline{J}|_{bdy}$, and Dirichlet, $J = -\overline{J}|_{bdy}$, are not compatible. By themselves, they each preserve a U(1) symmetry, which we have already seen to be distinct. Hence, presence of mixed boundaries breaks the U(1) symmetry, irrespective of the manifold in use.

B Entanglement in Free Boson Theory

Using the expressions introduced in section 3 for the partition functions in the free boson theory for NN, DD and DN boundary conditions, we now evaluate the Rényi and entanglement entropies in all cases.

We begin with the case of DD boundaries in the compact boson. Given the last expression of the spectrum in (33), and using (20), the Rényi entropies are

$$S_n^{DD} = \log g_D^2 + \frac{1}{1-n} \left[\log \left(\frac{\eta(\tilde{q})^n}{\eta(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}})} \right) + \log \left(\frac{\sum_m e^{i\frac{m}{R}\Delta\varphi_0} \tilde{q}^{\frac{h_{m,0}}{n}}}{\left(\sum_k e^{i\frac{k}{R}\Delta\varphi_0} \tilde{q}^{h_{k,0}}\right)^n} \right) \right].$$
(B.1)

The first term is the standard g-factor contribution independent of n [12]. The third term accounts for the bulk CFT primaries propagating in the BCFT. The second term, accounting for all descendants in the theory, is responsible for the standard Rényi entropy. Indeed,

$$\frac{1}{1-n}\log\left(\frac{\eta(\tilde{q})^n}{\eta(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}})}\right) = \frac{W}{12}\frac{n+1}{n} + \frac{1}{1-n}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\log\left[\frac{(1-e^{-2Wk})^n}{1-e^{-2Wk/n}}\right],\tag{B.2}$$

where $\tilde{q} = e^{-2W}$ has been used. It is straightforward to take the $n \to 1$ limit,

$$S_{1}^{DD} = \frac{W}{6} + \log g_{D}^{2} - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[\log \left(1 - e^{-2Wk} \right) + \frac{2Wk}{1 - e^{2Wk}} \right] + g_{D}^{2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{i \frac{m}{R} \Delta \varphi_{0}} \frac{\chi_{m,0}(\tilde{q})}{Z_{D(\varphi_{0}'),D(\varphi_{0})}(q)} \log \left[-\frac{2Wh_{m,0} \eta(\tilde{q}) Z_{D(\varphi_{0}'),D(\varphi_{0})}(q)}{g_{D}^{2}} \right].$$
(B.3)

In later sections we illuminate the physics of S_1^{DD} more clearly by rewriting it in terms of probability distributions. This analysis is repeated identically for the NN case using the last expression for the partition function (30). Thus we omit the discussion of the NN case here.

Simplifications occur for the non-compact boson. We begin with the DD case, where it is actually convenient not to use the last expression of (38) but the one in terms of q, which provides

$$S_n^{DD,(\infty)} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\frac{\eta^n(\tilde{q})}{\eta(\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{n}})} \frac{\sqrt{-in\tau}}{(\sqrt{-i\tau})^n} \right]$$
$$= \frac{W}{12} \frac{n+1}{n} + \frac{1}{1-n} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \log \left[\frac{(1-e^{-2Wk})^n}{1-e^{-2Wk/n}} \right] - \frac{1}{2} \log \left[\frac{W}{\pi} \right] + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\log n}{1-n}.$$
(B.4)

The modular transformation $\eta(\tilde{q}) = \sqrt{-i\tau}\eta(q)$ has been used in going to the second line. Observe that a log *W* term arises. This might surprise readers familiar with symmetry-resolution in the free boson as this here is the regular entanglement entropy. As will be explained in detail in section 4, the log *W* term has to appear here. The limit $n \to 1$ is easily taken in this representation.

The NN case for the non-compact boson is in fact very simple, given the last expression in (37)

$$S_n^{NN,(\infty)} = \frac{W}{12} \frac{n+1}{n} + \frac{1}{1-n} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \log\left[\frac{(1-e^{-2Wk})^n}{1-e^{-2Wk/n}}\right] + \log g_{N,(\infty)}^2.$$
(B.5)

Observe the appearance of the g-factor and that it is not accompanied by an *n*-dependence.

The final case is that of mixed boundaries, ND. Regardless of a compact or non-compact target space, the partition function takes the form (35)

$$S_n^{DN} = \frac{W}{12} \frac{n+1}{n} + \frac{1}{1-n} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \log\left[\frac{(1+e^{-2Wk})^n}{1+e^{-2Wk/n}}\right] + \log(g_D g_N).$$
(B.6)

This concludes our review of entanglement in the free boson CFT. These expressions are used in the following section to discuss the symmetry resolution in this theory in full generality.

C Modular Forms

Given the modular nome $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$, the *Dedekind eta function* is

$$\eta(q) = q^{\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^n).$$
(C.1)

The Jacobi theta functions are

$$\vartheta_3(q) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{\frac{n^2}{2}} = q^{-\frac{1}{24}} \eta(q) \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 + q^{n-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^2,$$
(C.2a)

$$\vartheta_2(q) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{\frac{1}{2}\left(n - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2} = 2q^{\frac{1}{12}} \eta(q) \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 + q^n)^2 , \qquad (C.2b)$$

$$\vartheta_4(q) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^n q^{\frac{n^2}{2}} = q^{-\frac{1}{24}} \eta(q) \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - q^{n-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^2, \qquad (C.2c)$$

$$\vartheta_1(q) = i \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^n q^{\frac{1}{2} \left(n - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2} = \frac{1}{2} q^{\frac{1}{12}} \eta(q) \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} (1 - q^n)^2 = 0.$$
(C.2d)

The second equality in all these expressions follows from the Jacobi triple product identity

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n)(1+q^{n-\frac{1}{2}}w)(1+q^{n-\frac{1}{2}}w^{-1}) = \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} q^{\frac{1}{2}m^2}w^m.$$
 (C.3)

Modular transformations act on the modular parameter as follows

$$T: \quad \tau \to \tau + 1, \qquad S: \quad \tau \to -\frac{1}{\tau}.$$
 (C.4)

The modular properties of the above modular functions are

$$\eta(\tau+1) = e^{\frac{i\pi}{12}}\eta(\tau), \qquad \eta\left(-\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \sqrt{-i\tau}\,\eta(\tau), \tag{C.5}$$

and

$$\vartheta_3(\tau+1) = \vartheta_4(\tau), \qquad \vartheta_3\left(-\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \sqrt{-i\tau}\vartheta_3(\tau),$$
(C.6a)

$$\vartheta_2(\tau+1) = e^{\frac{i\pi}{12}}\vartheta_2(\tau), \qquad \vartheta_2\left(-\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \sqrt{-i\tau}\vartheta_4(\tau),$$
 (C.6b)

$$\vartheta_4(\tau+1) = \vartheta_3(\tau), \qquad \vartheta_4\left(-\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \sqrt{-i\tau}\vartheta_2(\tau).$$
(C.6c)

References

- [1] E. Schrödinger, *Discussion of probability relations between separated systems*, Math. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. **31**, 555 (1935), doi:10.1017/S0305004100013554.
- [2] L. Amico, R. Fazio, A. Osterloh and V. Vedral, *Entanglement in many-body systems*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, 517 (2008), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.80.517.
- [3] P. Calabrese, J. Cardy and B. Doyon, *Entanglement entropy in extended quantum systems*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 500301 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/42/50/500301.
- [4] J. Eisert, M. Cramer and M. B. Plenio, Area laws for the entanglement entropy, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82, 277 (2010), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.82.277.
- [5] T. Nishioka, S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, *Holographic entanglement entropy: An overview*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **42**, 504008 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/42/50/504008.
- [6] M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, *Holographic entanglement entropy*, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, ISBN 9783319525716 (2017), doi:10.1007/978-3-319-52573-0.
- [7] C. Callan and F. Wilczek, On geometric entropy, Phys. Lett. B 333, 55 (1994), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(94)91007-3.
- [8] C. Holzhey, F. Larsen and F. Wilczek, Geometric and renormalized entropy in conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 424, 443 (1994), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(94)90402-2.
- [9] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Entanglement entropy and quantum field theory*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. P06002 (2004), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2004/06/P06002.

- [10] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, Entanglement entropy and conformal field theory, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 504005 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/42/50/504005.
- [11] A. M. Läuchli, Operator content of real-space entanglement spectra at conformal critical points, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1303.0741.
- [12] K. Ohmori and Y. Tachikawa, *Physics at the entangling surface*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. P04010 (2015), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2015/04/p04010.
- [13] J. Cardy and E. Tonni, Entanglement Hamiltonians in two-dimensional conformal field theory, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 123103 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/12/123103.
- [14] A. Lukin, M. Rispoli, R. Schittko, M. E. Tai, A. M. Kaufman, S. Choi, V. Khemani, J. Léonard and M. Greiner, *Probing entanglement in a many-body-localized system*, Science 364, 256 (2019), doi:10.1126/science.aau0818.
- [15] D. Azses, R. Haenel, Y. Naveh, R. Raussendorf, E. Sela and E. G. D. Torre, *Identification of symmetry-protected topological states on noisy quantum computers*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125**, 120502 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.125.120502.
- [16] A. Neven et al., Symmetry-resolved entanglement detection using partial transpose moments, npj Quantum Inf. 7, 152 (2021), doi:10.1038/s41534-021-00487-y.
- [17] V. Vitale et al., *Symmetry-resolved dynamical purification in synthetic quantum matter*, SciPost Phys. **12**, 106 (2022), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.12.3.106.
- [18] N. Laflorencie and S. Rachel, Spin-resolved entanglement spectroscopy of critical spin chains and Luttinger liquids, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. P11013 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/11/P11013.
- M. Goldstein and E. Sela, Symmetry-resolved entanglement in many-body systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 200602 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.200602.
- [20] J. C. Xavier, F. C. Alcaraz and G. Sierra, *Equipartition of the entanglement entropy*, Phys. Rev. B 98, 041106 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.98.041106.
- [21] L. Capizzi, P. Ruggiero and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement entropy of excited states in a CFT, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 073101 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ab96b6.
- [22] P. Calabrese, J. Dubail and S. Murciano, Symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in Wess-Zumino-Witten models, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 067 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2021)067.
- [23] R. Bonsignori and P. Calabrese, Boundary effects on symmetry resolved entanglement, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 54, 015005 (2020), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/abcc3a.
- [24] B. Estienne, Y. Ikhlef and A. Morin-Duchesne, *Finite-size corrections in critical symmetry-resolved entanglement*, SciPost Phys. **10**, 054 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.10.3.054.
- [25] A. Milekhin and A. Tajdini, Charge fluctuation entropy of Hawking radiation: A replica-free way to find large entropy, SciPost Phys. 14, 172 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.14.6.172.

- [26] Z. Ma, C. Han, Y. Meir and E. Sela, Symmetric inseparability and number entanglement in charge-conserving mixed states, Phys. Rev. A 105, 042416 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.105.042416.
- [27] F. Ares, P. Calabrese, G. Di Giulio and S. Murciano, Multi-charged moments of two intervals in conformal field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 051 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2022)051.
- [28] M. Ghasemi, Universal thermal corrections to symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy and full counting statistics, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 209 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2023)209.
- [29] S. Murciano, G. Di Giulio and P. Calabrese, Entanglement and symmetry resolution in two dimensional free quantum field theories, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 073 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2020)073.
- [30] D. X. Horváth, L. Capizzi and P. Calabrese, U(1) symmetry resolved entanglement in free 1 + 1 dimensional field theories via form factor bootstrap, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 197 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2021)197.
- [31] D. X. Horvath, P. Calabrese and O. A. Castro-Alvaredo, Branch point twist field form factors in the sine-Gordon model II: Composite twist fields and symmetry resolved entanglement, SciPost Phys. 12, 088 (2022), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.12.3.088.
- [32] D. X. Horváth and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement in integrable field theories via form factor bootstrap, J. High Energy Phys. 11, 131 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2020)131.
- [33] L. Capizzi, D. X. Horváth, P. Calabrese and O. A. Castro-Alvaredo, Entanglement of the 3-state Potts model via form factor bootstrap: Total and symmetry resolved entropies, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 113 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2022)113.
- [34] L. Capizzi, O. A. Castro-Alvaredo, C. De Fazio, M. Mazzoni and L. Santamaría-Sanz, Symmetry resolved entanglement of excited states in quantum field theory. Part I. Free theories, twist fields and qubits, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 127 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2022)127.
- [35] L. Capizzi, C. De Fazio, M. Mazzoni, L. Santamaría-Sanz and O. A. Castro-Alvaredo, Symmetry resolved entanglement of excited states in quantum field theory. Part II. Numerics, interacting theories and higher dimensions, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 128 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2022)128.
- [36] A. Foligno, S. Murciano and P. Calabrese, *Entanglement resolution of free Dirac fermions* on a torus, J. High Energy Phys. **03**, 096 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2023)096.
- [37] R. Bonsignori, P. Ruggiero and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement in free fermionic systems, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 52, 475302 (2019), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ab4b77.
- [38] S. Fraenkel and M. Goldstein, *Symmetry resolved entanglement: Exact results in 1D and beyond*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 033106 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ab7753.
- [39] N. Feldman and M. Goldstein, *Dynamics of charge-resolved entanglement after a local quench*, Phys. Rev. B **100**, 235146 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.100.235146.

- [40] S. Murciano, G. Di Giulio and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement in gapped integrable systems: A corner transfer matrix approach, SciPost Phys. 8, 046 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.3.046.
- [41] P. Calabrese, M. Collura, G. Di Giulio and S. Murciano, Full counting statistics in the gapped XXZ spin chain, Europhys. Lett. 129, 60007 (2020), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/129/60007.
- [42] S. Murciano, P. Ruggiero and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement in twodimensional systems via dimensional reduction, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 083102 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aba1e5.
- [43] X. Turkeshi, P. Ruggiero, V. Alba and P. Calabrese, Entanglement equipartition in critical random spin chains, Phys. Rev. B 102, 014455 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.014455.
- [44] G. Parez, R. Bonsignori and P. Calabrese, Quasiparticle dynamics of symmetry-resolved entanglement after a quench: Examples of conformal field theories and free fermions, Phys. Rev. B 103, L041104 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.103.L041104.
- [45] G. Parez, R. Bonsignori and P. Calabrese, Exact quench dynamics of symmetry resolved entanglement in a free fermion chain, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 093102 (2021), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ac21d7.
- [46] S. Fraenkel and M. Goldstein, Entanglement measures in a nonequilibrium steady state: Exact results in one dimension, SciPost Phys. 11, 085 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.11.4.085.
- [47] M. T. Tan and S. Ryu, Particle number fluctuations, Rényi entropy, and symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in a two-dimensional Fermi gas from multidimensional bosonization, Phys. Rev. B 101, 235169 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.235169.
- [48] F. Ares, S. Murciano and P. Calabrese, Symmetry-resolved entanglement in a long-range free-fermion chain, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 063104 (2022), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ac7644.
- [49] F. Ares, S. Murciano and P. Calabrese, Entanglement asymmetry as a probe of symmetry breaking, Nat. Commun. 14, 2036 (2023), doi:10.1038/s41467-023-37747-8.
- [50] L. Piroli, E. Vernier, M. Collura and P. Calabrese, *Thermodynamic symmetry resolved en*tanglement entropies in integrable systems, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 073102 (2022), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ac7a2d.
- [51] S. Murciano, P. Calabrese and L. Piroli, *Symmetry-resolved Page curves*, Phys. Rev. D 106, 046015 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.106.046015.
- [52] S. Scopa and D. X. Horváth, Exact hydrodynamic description of symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies after a quantum quench, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 083104 (2022), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ac85eb.
- [53] E. Cornfeld, M. Goldstein and E. Sela, Imbalance entanglement: Symmetry decomposition of negativity, Phys. Rev. A 98, 032302 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.98.032302.
- [54] S. Murciano, R. Bonsignori and P. Calabrese, Symmetry decomposition of negativity of massless free fermions, SciPost Phys. 10, 111 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.10.5.111.

- [55] H.-H. Chen, Charged Rényi negativity of massless free bosons, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 117 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2022)117.
- [56] H.-H. Chen, Dynamics of charge imbalance resolved negativity after a global quench in free scalar field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 146 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2022)146.
- [57] G. Parez, R. Bonsignori and P. Calabrese, Dynamics of charge-imbalance-resolved entanglement negativity after a quench in a free-fermion model, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 053103 (2022), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ac666c.
- [58] H.-H. Chen, Symmetry decomposition of relative entropies in conformal field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 084 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2021)084.
- [59] L. Capizzi and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved relative entropies and distances in conformal field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 195 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2021)195.
- [60] D. Wellnitz, G. Preisser, V. Alba, J. Dubail and J. Schachenmayer, *Rise and fall, and slow rise again, of operator entanglement under dephasing*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **129**, 170401 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.129.170401.
- [61] A. Rath et al., *Entanglement barrier and its symmetry resolution: Theory and experimental observation*, PRX Quantum 4, 010318 (2023), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.4.010318.
- [62] A. Belin, L.-Y. Hung, A. Maloney, S. Matsuura, R. C. Myers and T. Sierens, *Holographic charged Rényi entropies*, J. High Energy Phys. **12**, 059 (2013), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2013)059.
- [63] S. Zhao, C. Northe and R. Meyer, Symmetry-resolved entanglement in AdS₃/CFT₂ coupled to U(1) Chern-Simons theory, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 030 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2021)030.
- [64] K. Weisenberger, S. Zhao, C. Northe and R. Meyer, Symmetry-resolved entanglement for excited states and two entangling intervals in AdS₃/CFT₂, J. High Energy Phys. **12**, 104 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2021)104.
- [65] S. Zhao, C. Northe, K. Weisenberger and R. Meyer, *Charged moments in W₃ higher spin holography*, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 166 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2022)166.
- [66] S. Baiguera, L. Bianchi, S. Chapman and D. A. Galante, Shape deformations of charged Rényi entropies from holography, J. High Energy Phys. 06, 068 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2022)068.
- [67] B. Michel and M. Srednicki, Entanglement entropy and boundary conditions in 1 + 1 dimensions, (arXiv preprint), doi:10.48550/arXiv.1612.08682.
- [68] A. Roy, F. Pollmann and H. Saleur, Entanglement Hamiltonian of the 1+1-dimensional free, compactified boson conformal field theory, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 083104 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aba498.
- [69] L. Y. Hung and G. Wong, *Entanglement branes and factorization in conformal field theory*, Phys. Rev. D **104**, 026012 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.104.026012.
- [70] H. M. Wiseman and J. A. Vaccaro, Entanglement of indistinguishable particles shared between two parties, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 097902 (2003), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.91.097902.

- [71] H. Barghathi, C. M. Herdman and A. Del Maestro, *Rényi generalization of the accessible entanglement entropy*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 150501 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.150501.
- [72] H. Barghathi, E. Casiano-Diaz and A. Del Maestro, Operationally accessible entanglement of one-dimensional spinless fermions, Phys. Rev. A 100, 022324 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.100.022324.
- [73] M. Kiefer-Emmanouilidis, R. Unanyan, M. Fleischhauer and J. Sirker, Evidence for unbounded growth of the number entropy in many-body localized phases, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 243601 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.243601.
- [74] M. Kiefer-Emmanouilidis, R. Unanyan, J. Sirker and M. Fleischhauer, Bounds on the entanglement entropy by the number entropy in non-interacting fermionic systems, SciPost Phys. 8, 083 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.6.083.
- [75] K. Monkman and J. Sirker, Operational entanglement of symmetry-protected topological edge states, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 043191 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.043191.
- [76] J. L. Cardy, Effect of boundary conditions on the operator content of two-dimensional conformally invariant theories, Nucl. Phys. B 275, 200 (1986), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(86)90596-1.
- [77] J. L. Cardy, Boundary conditions, fusion rules and the Verlinde formula, Nucl. Phys. B 324, 581 (1989), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(89)90521-X.
- [78] A. Recknagel and V. Schomerus, Boundary conformal field theory and the worldsheet approach to D-branes, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780521832236 (2013), doi:10.1017/CBO9780511806476.
- [79] J. Fröhlich, O. Grandjean, A. Recknagel and V. Schomerus, *Fundamental strings in D-D brane systems*, Nucl. Phys. B 583, 381 (2000), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(00)00237-6.
- [80] P. Ginsparg, Applied conformal field theory, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.hep-th/9108028.
- [81] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu and D. Sénéchal, *Conformal field theory*, Springer, New York, USA, ISBN 9781461274759 (1997), doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-2256-9.
- [82] R. Blumenhagen and E. Plauschinn, Introduction to conformal field theory, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, ISBN 9783642004490 (2009), doi:10.1007/978-3-642-00450-6.
- [83] C. Northe, *Virasoro entanglement resolution*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2303.07724.
- [84] G. Di Giulio and E. Tonni, On entanglement Hamiltonians of an interval in massless harmonic chains, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 033102 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ab7129.
- [85] G. Di Giulio, R. Arias and E. Tonni, Entanglement Hamiltonians in 1D free lattice models after a global quantum quench, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. 123103 (2019), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ab4e8f.
- [86] G. Y. Cho, A. W. W. Ludwig and S. Ryu, Universal entanglement spectra of gapped one-dimensional field theories, Phys. Rev. B 95, 115122 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.95.115122.

- [87] M. R. Gaberdiel, A. Recknagel and G. M. T. Watts, *The conformal boundary states for SU(2) at level 1*, Nucl. Phys. B 626, 344 (2002), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(02)00033-0.
- [88] M. R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, An AdS₃ dual for minimal model CFTs, Phys. Rev. D 83, 066007 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.83.066007.
- [89] M. R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, *Minimal model holography*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 46, 214002 (2013), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/46/21/214002.
- [90] L. Eberhardt, M. R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, *Deriving the AdS₃/CFT₂ correspondence*, J. High Energy Phys. **02**, 136 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2020)136.
- [91] J. Maldacena and H. Ooguri, *Strings in AdS*₃ and the SL(2,R) WZW model. I: The spectrum, J. Math. Phys. 42, 2929 (2001), doi:10.1063/1.1377273.
- [92] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from the antide Sitter space/conformal field theory correspondence, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 181602 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.96.181602.
- [93] M. van Raamsdonk, Building up space-time with quantum entanglement, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 19, 2429 (2010), doi:10.1142/S0218271810018529.
- [94] P. Bueno, P. A. Cano, Á. Murcia and A. R. Sánchez, Universal feature of charged entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 021601 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.129.021601.
- [95] T. Faulkner, A. Lewkowycz and J. Maldacena, *Quantum corrections to holographic entanglement entropy*, J. High Energy Phys. **11**, 74 (2013), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2013)074.
- [96] N. Engelhardt and A. C. Wall, Quantum extremal surfaces: Holographic entanglement entropy beyond the classical regime, J. High Energy Phys. 01, 73 (2015), doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2015)073.
- [97] A. Belin, N. Iqbal and J. Kruthoff, Bulk entanglement entropy for photons and gravitons in AdS₃, SciPost Phys. 8, 075 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.5.075.
- [98] J. Surace, L. Tagliacozzo and E. Tonni, Operator content of entanglement spectra in the transverse field Ising chain after global quenches, Phys. Rev. B 101, 241107 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.241107.
- [99] I. Affleck and A. W. W. Ludwig, *Universal noninteger "ground-state degeneracy" in critical quantum systems*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **67**, 161 (1991), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.67.161.